
 
 
 

PLANNING 
 
Date: Tuesday 5 December 2023 
Time:  5.30 pm 
Venue:  Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business.  
 
If you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Sharon Sissons, 
Democratic Services Officer (Committees) on 01392 265115. 
 
Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the rear entrance, located at the back of the Customer 
Service Centre, Paris Street. 
 
Membership - 
Councillors Knott (Chair), Asvachin (Deputy Chair), Bennett, Hannaford, Jobson, Ketchin, Miller, 
Mitchell, M, Patrick, Sheridan, Vizard, Wardle, Warwick and Williams, M 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present 
  
1    Apologies 

 
 

 To receive apologies for absence from Committee members. 
 

 
 
2    Minutes 

 
 

 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 13 November 2023. 
  
  
 

(Pages 3 - 
16) 

 
3    Declarations of Interest 

 
 

 Councillors are reminded of the need to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests that relate to business on the agenda and which have not already been 
included in the register of interests, before any discussion takes place on the 
item. Unless the interest is sensitive, you must also disclose the nature of the 
interest. In accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, you must then leave 
the room and must not participate in any further discussion of the item. 
Councillors requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer 
prior to the day of the meeting. 
  
 

 

 



4    LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 EXCLUSION 
OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 

 It is not considered that the Committee would be likely to exclude the press and 
public during the consideration of any of the items on this agenda but, if it should 
wish to do so, then the following resolution should be passed: - 
  
RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for particular item(s) on the 
grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

Public Speaking 

Public speaking on planning applications and tree preservation orders is permitted at this 
Committee.  Only one speaker in support and one opposed to the application may speak and the 

request must be made by 10 am on the Friday before the meeting (full details available on 
request from the Democratic Services Officer). 

  
5    Planning Application No. 22/1145/FUL - Haven Banks Retail Park, Haven 

Banks, Exeter 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Director City Development. 
 

(Pages 17 
- 78)  

6    Appeals Report 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Director City Development. 
 

(Pages 79 
- 80)  

7    List of Decisions Made and Withdrawn Applications 
 

 

 To consider the report of the Director City Development. 
 

(Pages 81 
- 92) 

Date of Next Meeting 
 
The next scheduled meeting of the Planning Committee will be held on Monday 15 January 2024 at 
5.30 pm in the Civic Centre. 
 
 
Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  
This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you how you can ask a question 
at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Alternatively, contact the Democratic Services Officer 
(Committees) on (01392) 265115 for further information. 
 
Follow us: 
Twitter 
Facebook 
 
Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on 
request to Democratic Services (Committees) on 01392 265115. 

http://www.twitter.com/ExeterCouncil
http://www.facebook.com/ExeterCityCouncil


PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Monday 13 November 2023 
 

Present:- 
 
Councillor Paul Knott (Chair) 
Councillors Asvachin, Bennett, Hannaford, Jobson, Ketchin, Miller, Mitchell, M, Patrick, 
Sheridan, Vizard, Wardle, Warwick and Williams, M. 

 
Also Present 
 
Director of City Development, Assistant Service Lead (Major Projects), Principal Project 
Manager (Development) (HS), Principal Project Manager (Development) (CMB), Planning 
Solicitor, Principal Highways Development Management Officer - Exeter, Senior 
Environmental Technical Officer and Democratic Services Officer (HB) 

 
  

68   HOWARD BASSETT 
 

The Chair reported that this would be Howard Bassett’s last Planning Committee 
prior to his retirement. The Chair and Director City Development expressed their 
thanks and those of Members for his many years of service to the Council and 
wished him well on his retirement. 
   

69   MINUTES 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 2023 were taken as read, 
approved and signed by the Chair as correct. 
   

70   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

No declarations of interest were made by Members. 
  
  
  

71   PLANNING APPLICATION NO. 23/0875/VOC - SANDY PARK STADIUM, SANDY 
PARK WAY, EXETER 

 
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) presented the 
application for redevelopment to increase capacity from 10750 to 20600 by three 
new grandstands, additional parking, bus/coach drop off and extension to west 
stand including conference centre to south stand.  
 
Variation of condition 7 of 12/1030/FUL to allow up to six music concerts per year 
on weekends only for an attendance of up to 15,500 people per concert to take 
place between 1st May and 15th July inclusive, to avoid bank holiday weekends 
and any local school holidays, for an attendance of up to 15,500 people per concert. 
 
The following key issues were set out:-  
   

  impact on residential amenity and heritage; 
  highway, access and parking; and 
  economy 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



As background, the Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) 
advised that the original consent to which this application pertains, ref. 
12/1030/FUL, was for a permanent increase in capacity from the previous 10,744 to 
20,600 in the form of an extension to the West stand and new permanent stands on 
the remaining three sides of the ground, additional parking and bus/coach drop off 
and a conference centre to the south stand and Courtyard by Marriott Sandy Park to 
south with footbridge from hotel to stadium. As confirmed by a site visit on 14 March 
2023 and by an email received from the applicant dated 16 March 2023, consent 
had been partially implemented and was, therefore, extant. 
 
The recent application, ref. 23/0151/VOC, had been granted by Planning Committee 
in June 2023 for the variation of Condition 7 of 12/1030/FUL to allow up to four 
music concerts on 17, 18, 24, 25 June 2023 only for an attendance of up to 15,000 
people per concert. 
 
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) further informed 
Members of the following:-  

 
  the application now sought to vary Condition 7 of planning application 

12/1030/FUL to allow up to six music concerts per year on weekends only, for 
an attendance of up to 15,500 people per concert to take place between 1 May 
and 15 July avoiding local school half term and summer holidays, Furthermore 
the originally proposed small events (not including concerts) of no more than 
5,000 people per event had been removed from the proposed condition 
variation; 

  following comments received from National Highways, the dates set out in the 
proposed condition variation wording had been amended to cover school half 
term summer holidays after 15 July; 

  the concerns of the statutory consultees - the local highways authority, National 
Highways and Environmental Health - had been overcome following the 
submission of additional information, and the omission of the originally proposed 
small events, and recommended conditions; 

  the statutory consultees’ objections were withdrawn and the amended 
conditions were set out in the update sheet; and 

  advice was issued to the applicants during the course of planning application, 
23/0151/VOC, by technical consultees regarding data to be collected at the 
above events relating to noise and highways impacts. This data would be used 
to inform any future application for similar events. A Post Event Report by 
Clarke Saunders, dated 3 July 2023 had set out this data including complaints 
received for 2023 events. 
 

The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) further advised 
that 17 objections had been received, including from McMurdo Ltd on behalf of The 
Pratt Group (comprising The Sandy Park Farm Partnership together with Sidney 
Pratt (Builders) Ltd) which owned land immediately adjacent to the Exeter Chiefs 
Stadium. The objections were mainly noise pollution, traffic and parking 
issues/impact on the M5 Junction 30 and antisocial behaviour/alcohol and littering 
and the impact of these were set out in detail in the report. 
 
It was considered that the proposed music events would give rise to economic 
benefits for the rugby club and the wider area, including the provision of 
employment opportunities which carried substantial positive weight in the planning 
balance. On balance, the benefits of the scheme were considered to outweigh any 
adverse impacts and the proposal represented sustainable development overall. 
 

Page 4

https://publicaccess.exeter.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=ZZZU8GHBRW742
https://publicaccess.exeter.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=ZZZU8GHBRW742


The recommendation was for approval, subject to the conditions set out in the 
report and the update sheet. 
 
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) responded to 
Members’ questions:- 
 
  the operator would be Sandy Park and the permission would apply to events 

taking place in Sandy Park. Sandy Park would engage a preferred contractor 
and any event would comply with the conditions;  

  the application was for a permanent consent, the four events in June relating to 
temporary consent. The Club had requested a permanent consent at that time, 
but a trial period had been agreed instead; 

  the Club had collected data from the June events as requested by Devon 
County Council Highways, National Highways and Environmental Health which 
provided concrete evidence to support the application, all bodies requiring strict 
monitoring procedures and report back annually on the events previously held to 
inform how to proceed with new events; 

  the currently proposed conditions in respect of noise, antisocial behaviour and 
other issues considered to be potentially harmful were much stricter than the 
June events; 

  as it was an application for permanent permission a time limit could not be set; 
  capacity numbers had been incrementally increased for the June events, the 

applicant being able to do so within the event management strategy as highway 
improvements came forward. The numbers had been further increased by 500 
to allow for staff attending the events 

  there would be staggered arrival times so that the influx of concert goers would 
be more dissipated; 

  National Highways had stipulated that the main event could not start earlier than 
21:00 hours to reduce noise impact and avoid the sudden impact of people 
putting pressure on the motorway and Junction 30; 

  the club had offered a much lower noise limit than in June and lower than other 
venues in similar circumstances; 

  conditions required the use of two specific Park and Ride sites as well as 
supervision of pedestrian routes, including controls to prevent use of private 
driveways; 

  the noise limits within the conditions were those proposed by the applicant, the 
different levels to reflect their wish to have slightly different acts. These were 
assessed to be in compliance with national planning guidance and a 1995 
guidance on noise limits for outdoor music events; 

  the conditions would reflect the submitted documents for planning approval for 
10:30pm closure for Sunday events whilst a licensing condition requiring a 9:30 
closure could be required; 

  the noise complaints reported in June were not in breach of the conditions but 
the relevant condition proposed had been tweaked to make it more rigorous. 
The lower limits proposed were to help mitigate the increased number of events 
sought and to reflect the more permanent nature of the application; and 

  a condition in respect of timing reflected the wish to dilute arrivals and also 
ensuring that attendees did not arrive before 4:00pm. 

 
Kevin Cook, speaking against the application, raised the following points:- 
 
  many of the residents who live close to Sandy Park were frustrated and 

considered that the granting of Sandy Park planning applications had already 
been decided; 

Page 5



  noise levels had been monitored during the last Sandy Park concerts, but now, 
there was the potential for an attendance of 15,000 people; 

  further detail was required on the proposed six concerts and on which days they 
were to be held; 

  as with the rugby matches, people manoeuvre, park up, and drop off and collect, 
spectators, including a minibus, in Bishops Way which is a residents’ parking 
permits only area. This was dangerous to pedestrians and cyclists crossing, at 
the top of Bishops Way; 

  signage to deter parking in Bishops Court, during any Sandy Park event was still 
lacking and there was little or no parking enforcement; 

  Sandy Park still allowed event attendees to come away from Sandy Park, with 
copious amounts of alcohol, which fuelled anti-social behaviour; 

  there was still no marshalling provision in the adjacent residential area, unlike 
the marshalling that occurred at University rugby matches that take place at 
Sandy Park; and 

  there were many "constants" but none of them benefitted the residents that live 
close/adjacent to Sandy Park, who felt that their genuine concerns and issues 
were being ignored. 

 
Responding to a Member’s query, he advised that problems of noise had been 
apparent the day before some events which had not been monitored by 
Environmental Health officers. 
 
Mark Isaacs, speaking in support of the application, raised the following points:- 
 
  granting planning would bring concerts to the city, which would benefit not just 

the club but also the wider community; 
  the club, which was solely owned by its members, had played a major part in the 

growth of Exeter over the past 17 years, bringing millions of pounds into 
businesses within the city. Rugby matches up to a capacity of 15,000 were 
regular and successfully held and the venue had recently been chosen again to 
host the women’s rugby world cup in 2025 which would have a positive impact 
on the city. The Sandy Park Hotel had also brought a much needed 4-star hotel 
facility to the city; 

  there were very tight restrictions for the four events in June – some of the 
tightest restrictions imposed compared to any other venue in the UK, with most 
having later cut off times than those placed on Sandy Park; 

  the club had worked within the tight restrictions imposed; 
  the club had been flexible in its approach to ensure that it worked with the 

conditions for the benefit of both the City and the environment around Sandy 
Park and had worked with Environmental Health who had not objected, subject 
to the conditions. Highways England had not raised an objection and as part of 
the event management plan would ensure that the impact on the residents 
would be minimal. There was therefore no technical reason to object to the 
application; and 

  the amount of detailed work that had gone into this application would ensure 
that again these series of concerts would run as successfully as this year and 
would bring many benefits to both the Exeter Rugby Club and the City of Exeter 
for years to come.  

 
He responded as follows to Members’ queries:- 
 
  15,000 was the maximum capacity sought for events, the additional 500 taking 

the total to 15,500 as set out in the application, was in respect of event staff; 

Page 6



  the club would continue to work with residents to address their concerns around 
parking by minibuses etc. in residential areas, particularly the Bishops Court 
estate, through the provision of signage and a Traffic Regulation Order would be 
implemented; 

  it was made clear to attendees to respect the needs of residents. Close work 
was undertaken with key stakeholders to ensure little impact to the surrounding 
environment and ensuring residential areas were not impacted. A robust traffic 
management plan includes not using the parking at Digby and attendees are 
directed to use the Newcourt Rail Halt; 

  cleaning teams were deployed into residential routes to the stadium and security 
strategically placed to deter anti-social behaviour; and 

  the club was willing to work with one of the strictest conditions for events of this 
nature and had a reduced decibel level of 65 for Sunday events and therefore 
feel that a 10:30pm finish is appropriate. 

 
The Director City Development advised that there were two key issues, one relating 
to traffic impact especially on Junction 30 and the other to residents’ concerns 
relating to noise, parking, litter and anti-social behaviour all having been assessed 
by bodies independent of the Council using significant live, real time data rather 
than computer generated information. 
 
Both Highways England and Devon County Council as statutory highway authority 
had no objections and had requested conditions as set out in the update sheet. 
Similarly, the City Council Environmental Health team had assessed the data, 
worked very closely with the applicant and recommended conditions accordingly 
having no objections to the proposal.  
 
Concerns raised by a third party in respect of noise and the strong concern by 
residents had been rigorously examined and had been balanced against the  . 
wider benefits the events would bring and with regard to significant steps by the 
club to ensure the events would be well managed.  
 
Members expressed the following views:- 
 
  it was recognised that the restrictions placed on the club were quite severe and 

compared favourably with events held at two stadiums in a major English city; 
  concerts brought benefits to the city and any future issues emerging with 

acoustics could be examined; 
  the traffic flow was unlikely to clash with the Devon County Show; 
  the number of tickets sold did not reflect the stadium’s capacity; 
  robust conditions would mitigate the concerns raised with the continuation of 

concert events, in particular the controls in relation to opening and closing times, 
event management plans and parking controls and the use of the Exeter Safety 
Advisory Group; and 

  the current views of residents was unclear as there did not appear to be the 
same strength of opposition to the events as expressed earlier in the year. 

 
The recommendation was moved, seconded and carried. 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission for the redevelopment to increase capacity 
from 10750 to 20600 by three new grandstands, additional parking, bus/coach drop 
off and extension to west stand including conference centre to south stand. 
Variation of condition seven of 12/1030/FUL to allow up to six music concerts per 
year on weekends only between 1st May and 15th July inclusive, to avoid bank 
holiday weekends and any local school holidays, for an attendance of up to 15,500 

Page 7



people per concert be APPROVED, subject to the conditions set out in the report 
and the amended conditions set out in the update sheet. 
 
  

72   PLANNING APPLICATION NO. 23/0232/FUL - APPARELMASTER, COWLEY 
BRIDGE ROAD, EXETER 

 
The Principal Project Manager (Development Manager) (HS) presented the 
planning application for the construction of new buildings for Purpose-Built Student 
Accommodation (Sui Generis use) with associated landscaping, servicing and 
infrastructure works (Revised Plans). 
  
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (HS) described the 
layout and location of the site through the site location plans, aerial views and 
photos of the site, 3D visualisation, site layout, elevations, site sections, cycle 
parking and CGI, the report also presenting the following key issues:-  

  
          the principle of development involving loss of employment land and PBSA; 
          scale, design and appearance; 
          contamination and flood risk; 
          impact on residential amenity; 
          access; and 
          wildlife, ecology and biodiversity. 
  
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management (HS) provided the 
following additional detail:- 
  
         the proposal was for the construction of four new buildings of up to six storeys 

for purpose-built student accommodation (Sui Generis use) with associated 
landscaping, servicing (from Cowley Bridge Road) and infrastructure works, with 
two disabled parking spaces to be provided on site; 

          the development would provide 350 student bed spaces, arranged in four 
blocks as 154 studio bed spaces (of which 17 would be accessible studios) and 
196 beds in 35 cluster flats; 

          Block A at the southern end would be five storey, the top floor being recessed. 
Blocks B and C were six storey with the top storey being recessed. Block C had 
an additional five storey wing on the Cowley Bridge Road frontage. Block D 
would be an articulated open L shape, with a three-storey wing fronting Cowley 
Bridge Road and a five-storey wing running back towards the railway line; 

          the blocks would be set back from the rear of the pavement. Spaces between 
the buildings provide landscaped amenity space and glimpsed views to the Exe 
Valley. A minor part of the site, which ran behind dwellings on Cowley Bridge 
Road, was identified as a wildlife enhancement area; and 

          ground floor communal internal amenity space would be provided in Block C, 
which had a direct entrance onto Cowley Bridge Road to facilitate potential 
community use.  

  
The recommendation was for approval, subject to the completion of a legal 
agreement and conditions. 
  
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management (HS) provided the 
following responses to Members’ queries:- 
  
          the Design Review Panel had not been involved with the proposal but there had 

been extensive liaison with the Council’s Urban Design Officer; 

Page 8



          condition 18 covered external materials with an appropriate regard can be 
made to embodied carbon; 

          the local community had been consulted on the use etc. of the community room 
which would be 150 square metres; 

          the use of the rooms out of term would be secured by the management plan 
with a restriction on the length of letting which was common to such student 
schemes; 

          cycle parking would meet Sustainable Transport SPD guidance and there 
would be no car parking other than for two disabled spaces; 

          the design was compatible with existing student accommodation in the area 
with use of red brick and cladding elements on the roof; and 

          the prevention of fireworks could be secured through the Student Management 
Plan secured through the Section 106 Agreement. 

  
Councillor Pearce, having given notice under Standing Order No. 44, spoke on the 
item. He raised the following points:- 
  
         purpose built student accommodation was suitable on a narrow, brownfield site 

between a busy road and busy rail-line and it would not be particularly desirable 
for residential accommodation. It was the right development in the right place 
and avoided the continuation of an industrial use with associated heavy lorry 
use; 

          he welcomed the consultations which were undertaken with the Cowley Bridge 
and West Garth Residents’ Associations;  

          the widening of the footpath, provision of a cycle path and a contribution of over 
£100,000 towards GP provision in the area were also welcomed; 

          the flexible use of a community room, to be secured through a Section 106 
Agreement was welcome; 

          the development would provide secure accommodation for students; 
          the heights of the buildings have addressed the concerns of overlooking 

neighbouring residential properties; and 
          some residents have remarked on the general need for more social and 

affordable housing. 
  
Sue Sparling, speaking in support of the application, made the following points:- 
  
          representing Metropolitan and District Securities;  
          early consultations were carried out with the West Garth Residents’ Association 

and the use of the community centre would be free of charge for residents 
groups; 

          whilst brick work had a longer longevity than some other materials, extensive 
research was being undertaken to reduce the impact of embodied carbon; 

          the number of units had been reduced from 372 to 350 and cycle provision had 
been maximised; 

          the design provided a positive contribution to the neighbourhood with open 
views to the countryside with articulated frontage; and 

          the development provided natural surveillance and the 65% provision of open 
space provided for significant biodiversity gain. 

  
She responded as follows to Members’ queries:- 
  
          there would only be two parking spaces which would be designed for 

accessible use and the extensive provision of cycle spaces would encourage 
non carbon travel; 

Page 9



          there were differing views on design and, rather than using the Design Review 
Panel, the applicant had recruited its own design officers; and 

          appropriate controls on the use of fireworks would be incorporated into the 
agreements with occupants as part of the management plan.  

  
The Director City Development in conclusion, advised that the development would 
provide additional purpose built student accommodation further reducing pressure 
to convert residential accommodation. It would respond appropriately to the overall 
context of the site in the shadow of the Streatham Campus and would fit in well with 
the existing landscape. The Environment Agency had withdrawn its original 
objections as an appropriate Flood Risk Assessment, sequential site search and 
mitigation through design had been provided with regard to the site being in Flood 
Zones 2 and 3 and a Flood Emergency Plan would be required by condition. 
  
Members expressed the following views:- 
  
          the proposal offered one of the better designed student accommodation in the 

city on a brownfield site, broken into blocks, reflecting other student residences 
with a respectful relationship to neighbouring residential properties; 

          provision of the free non-commercial use of a community room was welcome as 
was the £106,240 contribution for GP surgeries expansion; 

          long term issues around car usage in the area may emerge over time and that, 
whilst the site is appropriate for use as student accommodation, there remains a 
problem of a lack of community balance overall in the area. 

  
The recommendation was moved, seconded and carried unanimously. 
  
RESOLVED that, subject to the completion of a Legal Agreement under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to secure the 
following:-  
  
          £106,240 for GP surgeries expansion; 
          Student occupation and management plan; 
          public access to amenity room; 
  
All Section 106 contributions should be index linked from the date of resolution. 
  
the Director City Development be authorised to APPROVE planning permission for 
the construction of new buildings for purpose-built student accommodation (Sui 
Generis use) with associated landscaping, servicing and infrastructure works 
(Revised Plans), subject also to the conditions and informatives set out in the report 
(the detailed wording of which may be varied). 
  
and further RESOLVED that the Director City Development be authorised to 
REFUSE planning permission for the reasons of absence of the matters listed in the 
conditions being secured if the legal agreement under Section 106 Agreement 
under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) is not completed 
within six months from the date of this Committee or such extended time as agreed 
by the Director City Development.  
   

73   PLANNING APPLICATION NO. 23/0880/FUL - FORMER EXETER ROYAL 
ACADEMY FOR THE DEAF, 50 TOPSHAM ROAD, EXETER 

 
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) presented the 
application for the development of 65no. units of Use Class C2 Residential 
Accommodation with Care for the elderly along with associated landscaping, access 

Page 10



roads, car parking and services. The applicants were Gladman Retirement Living 
Ltd. 
  
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) described the 
development through a site location plan, comparative site layout of the current 
proposal and extant consent together with comparative elevations, impact on 
neighbouring amenity, setting out also the following key issues:- 
  
          character and appearance; 
          residential amenity; and   
          economy.  
  
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) provided the 
following additional detail:- 
  
          the proposed main vehicular access would be off Weirfield Road to the south-

west of the site, which would lead to a parking area for 33 cars, of which two. 
would be accessible, one would be for car club use, and four would be for 
Weirfield Road residents; 

          there would be a secondary vehicular access to the north of the site off 
Topsham Road for dropping off; 

          the main building access would be on the southern elevation of the south-west 
element at lower ground level; 

          there would be two additional entrances on the northern elevation at ground 
level and some cycle parking; 

          the site had extant consent, ref. 21/1864/FUL, for the erection of a building 
containing 85no. retirement apartments, together with communal facilities, 
access, car parking and landscaping. The current scheme was virtually identical 
to the extant consent; 

          the site also has extant consent, ref. 19/1436/VOC, for the erection of a building 
containing 63no. C2 assisted living apartments, together with communal 
facilities, access, car parking and landscaping. This consent had been partially 
implemented and was very similar to current and subsequent schemes; and 

          there had been no objections from any statutory consultees, including the 
Highway Authority with only one objection from the Civic Society, a non-
statutory consultee. 

  
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) advised that the 
application had resulted in 123 objections including the St Leonard’s 
Neighbourhood Association, the main concerns being:- 
  
          overbearing impact, overshadowing to Weirfield Road; 
          out of character as it would be too tall with the wrong colouring and an  

overdevelopment of the site; 
          increased traffic, causing light and air pollution; and 
          access should be on Topsham Road not Weirfield Road for pedestrian safety. 
  
Detail was provided on the impact on neighbouring amenity and it was concluded 
that the proposal was acceptable regarding the impact on privacy as well as in 
terms of any harm to outlook. Similarly, it was concluded that the proposal was 
acceptable in terms of access and parking. 
  
The Principal Project Manager (Development Management) (CMB) acknowledged 
that 123 letters of objection had been received but that the application was virtually 
identical to previously approved schemes including extant consents. The concerns 

Page 11



raised were considered under the previous scheme and found acceptable, namely 
the impact on the character of the area, the residential amenity and highways 
safety. The following concluding points were set out, all providing substantial 
positive weight cumulatively:- 

  
          contribution of 65no. new dwellings to current housing shortfall of 457 homes; 
          high density and effective use of land and use of a brownfield site; 
          bringing vacant site back into use; 
          employment opportunities during construction and operation; and  
          developer contributions.  

  
The application was recommended for approval. 
  
Responding to Members’ queries, the Principal Project Manager (Development 
Management) (CMB) advised that:- 
  
          details of internal layouts had been provided including details of lifts and stairs 

but not of internal elevations as these are not required; 
          the development was being progressed by a new provider who were offering 

slightly larger units as part of a more luxurious retirement offer; and 
          the proposed landscaping would be addressed via condition and there would be 

a net bio-diversity gain. 
  

Councillor Moore, having given notice under Standing Order No. 44, spoke on the 
item. She raised the following points:- 
  
          welcomed the engagement by the new developer to meet with residents and 

the review by the architects to consider different positioning of the property on 
the site. She was also pleased that the developer had earmarked a possible 
sum to improve the local amenity through the resurfacing on a pathway opposite 
the site and for new tree planting; 

          the local community was not against development of the site but were 
concerned about the relationship between the building and its neighbourhood; 

          the access point down a small residential road had been the major bone of 
contention in all these applications; 

          alternative access proposals had not been pursued as viability had been 
prioritised and this would continue to be a problem for the developer as they 
would also become the operator. Given that the homes would be for older 
people, many requiring care, regard needed to be given to people with 
disabilities. The frequency of the road closure could deny people access to 
onsite or offsite care; 

          the design, bulk and massing were problematic and there was already a 
significantly detrimental impact from the big beige block of the Acorn 
development which dominated the skyline above the Ludwell Valley Park and 
was visible from Conservation Areas opposite; 

          the site was adjacent to the Southernhay and The Friars and the St. Leonards 
Conservation Areas and there would be an adverse impact on St. Leonards 
Church, built of limestone with sandstone dressings, with its tall octagonal 
spire a prominent landmark. Views from a Conservation area were a material 
consideration and the dramatic views to the south would be obliterated. The 
relationship of this building to the edges of these Conservation Areas was very 
important but the density, bulk and relationship would detract from the character 
of the area and the beige appearance, will create a jarring clash; 

          a city centre vision for as a green capital was a key Council strategy requiring 
any new development in the city centre to respect the city skyline and reflect the 

Page 12



underlying topography. Exeter was a low rise city and tall buildings should only 
be permitted in special circumstances and be of great architectural quality. 
Efforts to break up the density and massing had not transformed the proposal 
into an interesting block of flats; 

          the development was not virtually identical to the previous schemes as there 
was less thought given to the landscaping, especially on the frontage to 
Weirfield Road, meaning less space for nature and less ability to help to 
manage water run off on site. Moreover, there were 19 fewer homes; 

          the proposal was higher by six metres than the existing permission and four 
metres on the southwest corner; 

          the 17.7 metre distance from to front to front was less than the 22 metre 
minimum and greater where the new building was higher than existing; 

          affordable housing for older people was also required; 
          a daylight and overshadowing study was requested to assess the impact but 

the assumption was that this increase in height would not make much 
difference. This could not be assessed without a study; 

          the scheme was not identical to the existing permission; 
          it was stated that the latest development was acceptable based on the 

acceptability of each previous scheme but, in fact, each new scheme had 
continued to nibble away at the local amenity, not improved architectural merit 
and increases the detrimental impact on the nearest neighbours; and 

          it had not addressed the unacceptable access point.  
  
Helen Powell, speaking against the application made the following points:- 
  
          local residents do not object to the Gladman Adlington planning application and 

have engaged deeply with the three planning applications over the past six 
years; 

          there were concerns regarding height/density and massing. The height of the 
building which was excessive and its proximity to St. Leonard’s Church and 
spire would overshadow Weirfield Road and roads close by. Views from 
Conservation Areas into the development as well as views from the river up this 
road were important. The new buildings would transform Weirfield Road into a 
dark tunnel; 

          the design was of a poor quality and bland beige boxes do not fit with 
Edwardian houses in this part of the city; 

          the level of density would harm the character of the neighbourhood; 
          the proposal was worse than the previous Churchill application; 
          the proposed development will be the first in this city to impose and 

overshadow the St. Leonards Church and its spire; 
          there had been a six year resistance by local residents and road users to the 

opening of an access road in Weirfield Road and this view remained 
unchanged. The road had been closed or partially blocked 10 times since 2020, 
totalling six months; 

          hundreds of local people had objected since 2017 including the 2022 ePetition 
with 952 signatures. This time, there are over 120 objections; 

          reducing the size of the development and setting it back from both Topsham 
Road and the edge of Weirfield Road with a similar footprint to the Deaf 
Academy with its entrance on Topsham Road would go a long way to address 
the issue. It would remove the burden being placed on a narrow, steep 
Edwardian cul-de-sac where operating two large businesses was never a sound 
plan; 

          the Department of Health fire code guidance stated that a minimum of two 
access points must be provided to the site for emergency vehicles. The 

Page 13



application, at present, did not comply with those regulations and Weirfield Road 
was not a blue light route; and 

          the fire service had sent a fire engine down the road to check the turning circle 
but the access entrance was inaccessible due to the Care Home building works 
at this time. It was not certain that this small street could withstand a 12 tonne 
fire engine with modern firefighting equipment trying to reach new residents, 
turning in on a tight turning circle with parked cars, with a possible road closure. 

  
Responding to a Member’s query, she confirmed her opposition to the choice of 
brick colour maintaining that red brick should be used reflecting the prominent brick 
colour in the area. 
  
Rob Gaskell, speaking in support of the application, made the following points:- 
  
          the site has extant planning permission for 63 Assisted Living units, and more 

recently 84 retirement apartments. Both present realistic fall-back positions for 
the applicant which could both be built out. The proposed design, scale, 
massing, access from Weirfield Road, parking numbers, amenity space etc. 
were all either the same, not materially different or an improvement, from what 
has twice been determined to be acceptable – therefore this proposal must also 
be acceptable; 

          the access was the same as for the two earlier planning permissions, one of 
which is for 84 units, however there would be fewer vehicle movements arising 
from this development. The Highway Authority did not object to the access 
which has undergone a series of Road Safety Audits and access was now built 
out and an Inspector, confronted with local objections, determined that, owing to 
the previous permissions, it was impossible to find that the access was 
unsuitable; 

          in terms of the concern of additional vehicles on Weirfield Road, the peak 
periods for traffic from the development is between 10.00-11.00am. Even during 
this peak, there are only 12 vehicle movements, that is, one additional vehicle 
every five minutes. Likewise, in peak between 4.00-5.00pm, only eight vehicle 
movements. The impact would clearly be limited; 

          a condition has been suggested by the applicant that would limit the amount of 
servicing/delivery vehicles that would be able to use Weirfield Road which would 
reduce any impact/safety concern; 

          the benefits of this development, included a £115,000 affordable housing 
contribution at a time of critical national and local need, economic benefits to the 
local community in terms of jobs created during construction, reducing the 
financial burden on Adult Social Care and NHS budgets and freeing up of 
existing under-occupied housing stock; 

          it would be finished to a high standard, by an award-winning developer, as 
quickly as possible; 

          there would be reduced vehicle movements along Weirfield Road compared to 
the earlier planning permission.  

  
He responded as follows to Members’ queries:- 
  
          given the concerns regarding access off Weirfield Road, six options had been 

presented, to see if it was feasible to not take access off Weirfield Road, but no 
workable solution was found. The footprint of the Acorn development had 
mitigated against an improved access as had the need to ensure appropriate 
floor space to achieve commercial viability; 

          the number of road closures to necessitate works to services had been 
acknowledged and there was sufficient space at the access points to ensure 
emergency vehicles could enter the site with any equipment necessary; 

Page 14



          planning conditions required sufficient space to facilitate access by delivery 
vehicles; and 

          the Topsham Road access was for emergency and refuse vehicles, the 
Weirfield Road access primarily for private cars.  

  
The Director City Development in conclusion, acknowledged the level of objections 
received but referred to the application being virtually identical to previously 
approved schemes dating back to 2018. Access from Weirfield Road was 
recognised as being of particular concern but had been thoroughly examined and 
there was no objection from the Highway Authority. It was an application for a care 
facility for older residents rather than a care home and offered improvements to the 
previous scheme including the reduction in building heights. 
  
Members expressed the following views:- 
  
          the difficulties raised previously regarding the access arrangements remained 

in spite of no objections from the highway authority. The access off Weirfield 
Road was particularly problematic given that the care facility would generate 
additional traffic. There remained too many issues to address before the 
application could be signed off; 

          whilst there were reservations on some issues such as brick colour, the 
application was substantially similar to the previous extant consent and should 
be approved; and 

          concerns of residents were sympathised with and, whilst the design and 
colouring was not unprecedented in the city, it did not reflect that of the St. 
Leonards area. Refusal would unlikely to be successfully defended at appeal.  

  
The recommendation was moved, seconded and carried. 
  
RESOLVED that, subject to the completion of a Legal Agreement under Section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to secure 
development contributions for the following:-  
  
          NHS healthcare provision of £24,181 for Barnfield Hill Surgery, Southernhay 

House Surgery and St. Leonards Practice; 
          Planning obligation monitoring fee in accordance with the Council’s published 

current fees and charges of £612 plus £35 per year up until payment; 
          Affordable Housing contribution of £115,673.13; and 
          Habitats mitigation of £67,289.95.  
  
in the case where developments are not liable or are exempt from paying the 
Community Infrastructure Levy, it is necessary to levy the Habitats Mitigation 
contribution through one of two mechanisms: 
 
          an Undertaking made in accordance with Section 111 of the Local Government 

Act 1972; or 
          an Unilateral Undertaking made in accordance with Section 106 of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
The applicant has confirmed their intention to submit a unilateral undertaking in 
respect of the Habitats Mitigation contribution. This aspect of the development is, 
therefore, acceptable subject to the Section 106 agreement. 
 
planning permission for the development of 65no. units of Use Class C2 Residential 
Accommodation with Care for the elderly along with associated landscaping, access 

Page 15



roads, car parking and services be APPROVED, subject to the conditions and the 
Section 106 Agreement as set out in the report. 
 
   

74   LIST OF DECISIONS MADE AND WITHDRAWN APPLICATIONS 
 

The report of the Director City Development was submitted. 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 

   
75   APPEALS REPORT 

 
The schedule of appeal decisions and appeals lodged was submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

(The meeting commenced at 5.30 pm and closed at 8.20 pm) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair

Page 16



 1

Planning Committee Report (22/1145/FUL) 
 

1.0 Application information 
 
Number: 22/1145/FUL 
Applicant Name: Welbeck CP (Haven Road) Ltd 
Proposal: Comprehensive redevelopment to deliver a new, mixed use 

neighbourhood, comprising demolition of existing buildings and 
construction of four residential-led mixed-use buildings of 2 to 6 
storeys, including retail, café/restaurant and flexible commercial 
units (Class E), residential (Class C3) and co-living (Sui Generis) 
accommodation, pedestrian square and public realm, amenity 
areas, landscaping, access, parking, servicing and associated 
works (revised plans). 

Site Address: Haven Banks, Water Lane, Exeter, EX2 8BY. 
Registration Date: 1 August 2022 
Link to Documentation: https://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/permissions-and-

applications/related-documents/?appref=22/1145/FUL 
Case Officer: Howard Smith 
Ward Member(s): Cllr Diana Moore, Cllr Tess Read, Cllr Amy Sparling 
 
REASON APPLICATION IS GOING TO COMMITTEE: The Service Lead - City Development 
considers the application to be a significant, controversial and/or sensitive application that 
should be determined by the Planning Committee in accordance with the Exeter City Council 
Constitution. 

2.0 Summary of recommendation 
DELEGATE to officers to GRANT permission subject to completion of a S106 
Agreement relating to the matters identified and subject to conditions as set out in 
report, but with secondary recommendation to REFUSE permission in the event the 
S106 Agreement is not completed within the requisite timeframe for the reason set out 
below. 

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:  
It is considered that the benefits of the development by providing residential accommodation 
as part of a mixed-use regeneration of a previously developed but underused site in this 
highly sustainable location clearly and demonstrably outweigh the identified harms through 
flood risk and all other harms when assessed against the policies of the NPPF and the 
Development Plan taken as a whole. As such, this application is recommended for approval 
in line with NPPF 2023 paragraph 11 d). 

4.0 Table of key planning issues 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5

https://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/permissions-and-applications/related-documents/?appref=22/1145/FUL
https://exeter.gov.uk/planning-services/permissions-and-applications/related-documents/?appref=22/1145/FUL


 2

Issue Conclusion 
Principle of 
development – loss of 
existing retail/leisure 
uses. 

There is no planning policy objection to the loss of out of centre 
retail provision. The majority of units in the existing building 
have been vacant for several years. Therefore, there will be 
minimal loss of jobs and new jobs will be created in the 
proposed development. 

Principle of 
development – 
redevelopment of site 
for residential and 
commercial uses. 

Redevelopment for residential led mixed use development in 
this highly sustainable location including 184 co-living beds and 
239 flats conforms to the spatial principle of redeveloping 
brownfield sites in preference to greenfield sites around the 
edge of the city and is strongly supported in national and local 
planning policy. 
 

Flood Risk & Surface 
Water Management 

The site is in Flood Zone 3a protected to a 1 in 100-year flood 
event level by recently upgraded flood defences. The site 
currently benefits form a dry escape route in a 1:100-year flood 
event. However, the future effects of climate change on flood 
risk means that this will not be the case through the 100-year 
design life of the buildings. A minimum resident finished floor 
level for flood resilience of 8.68m AOD for the residential 
elements of the development is proposed. Residential 
development is classified in Planning Practice Guidance as a 
more vulnerable use, and commercial (Class E) uses as less 
vulnerable. 
 
The application has submitted a sequential site search that has 
not identified any alternative sites with lower flood risk. The 
residential use is classified as ‘more vulnerable’ and the NPPF 
guides that such development is only acceptable in areas of 
flood risk if the Exception Test is also passed. 
 
The regeneration of an underused brownfield site for residential 
development in a highly sustainable location and constructed to 
BREEAM Excellent standard is considered to outweigh the 
harm through risk of flooding. The applicants Flood Risk 
Assessment has shown that the development does not increase 
the risk of flooding elsewhere and the Environment Agency is 
satisfied by that assessment. 
 
As such the development is considered to have passed the 
sequential and exception tests. 
 
The Environment Agency has withdrawn its objection subject to 
the recommendations of the Flood Risk Assessment being 
secured by condition and a contribution being secured to deliver 
the strategic flood escape route, or other agreed emergency 
planning solution that ECC considers acceptable, in a timely 
manner to ensure that the development is safe during the 
design lifetime of the development (100 years). 

Page 18



 3

Issue Conclusion 
 
The provision of a raised development platform, and the 
contribution towards a future strategic dry flood escape route 
are of benefit to the existing residential population in the Water 
Lane area as well as future residents in a flood event, which 
should be accorded significant weight in determining this 
application. 
 
Devon County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority has 
advised that the proposed surface water management strategy 
is acceptable in principle. The details of the proposed scheme of 
surface water management can be secured by pre-construction. 
 
On this basis the proposed development is considered to accord 
with the aims of saved Policy EN4 of the Exeter Local Plan First 
Review and Section 14 of the NPPF, which deals with flood risk. 
 

Scale, design, layout, 
character and 
appearance 

The application seeks to comprehensively redevelop the site, 
demolishing existing low rise commercial buildings and surface 
car parking to replace them with a residential-led mixed-use 
proposal with associated landscape, and public realm.   

The Layout, Density, Height, scale and massing, Amenity of 
residents, Landscape proposals are considered appropriate for 
the redevelopment of this brownfield site and good quality 
overall. 
 
Paragraph 134 of the NPPF guides that significant weight 
should be given to development which reflects local design 
policies and government guidance on design, taking into 
account any local design guidance and supplementary planning 
documents which use visual tools such as design guides and 
codes; and/or … designs which promote high levels of 
sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more 
generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the overall form 
and layout of their surroundings. . Extensive discussions have 
been carried out with officers to improve the design of the 
scheme since it was submitted and officers are now highly 
satisfied with the design and consider it conforms with Liveable 
Exeter principles. 
 

Impact on Heritage 
Assets 

Current development on the site makes a negative contribution 
to the setting of the Riverside Conservation Area and the setting 
of the Locally Listed Electricity Generating Building.  
 
The proposed development is considered to respect the 
character of the area and incorporate uses that support the 

Page 19



 4

Issue Conclusion 
existing high quality historic environment. It provides a 
permeable, attractive, and safe public realm that adds to the 
interest of the area and environment.  
 
The revisions have reduced the impact of the scheme on the 
historic environment to acceptable levels, and whilst there will 
be some change to the context of the heritage assets, that 
change does not equate to significant harm. This should be 
given weight in decision making. 
 
A Written Scheme of Investigation of the archaeology can be 
secured by condition. 
 

Impact on existing 
residential amenity 

The proposed development will result in a reduction in direct 
sunlight and reduction in diffuse light levels to some 
neighbouring properties. The proposals will result in a small 
number of windows at existing properties experiencing a 
reduction in light levels that will be noticeable. In the case of two 
windows at separate properties the affect is moderately 
adverse. At one property already low levels of sunlight in the 
garden reduced by half, and 4 would have the percentage of the 
garden receiving 2hrs of sunlight reduced to close to the 50% 
target level. Whilst it is considered that the overall levels of light 
in those dwellings are not considered to be reduced to a level as 
to render living conditions unacceptable, these are harms that 
will be experienced by occupiers. This should be given weight in 
decision making. 
 
The arrangement of buildings is not considered to give rise to a 
degree of overlooking, loss of in building privacy or overbearing 
impact that is not acceptable in an urban setting. In this respect 
the proposed development accords with the aims of saved 
policy DG4 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review and this should 
be given weight in decision making. 
 
Subject to the proposed conditions, the potential for noise from 
the development to affect neighbouring occupiers has been 
assessed to be acceptable and the conditions to give a basis for 
enforcement should nuisance arise. 
 

Affordable Housing The applicant has offered 20% of the Build-to-Rent flats and the 
Co-Living Units as Affordable Housing. This accords with 
national Planning Practice Guidance and is consistent with other 
Build to Rent developments granted permission in the city. Of 
the flats 10%, and for the affordable co-living 5% will be 
disabled accessible standard. The affordable housing can be 
secured in a s106 legal agreement.  

Page 20



 5

Issue Conclusion 
 

Economic impacts The commercial units will provide employment opportunities and 
the development will provide economic benefits in construction 
phase. The development of these additional residential units, 
including affordable housing, will support the labour supply in 
the local economy. 
 

Pollution The site is identified as likely to be subject of ground 
contamination however officers and the Environment Agency 
are satisfied that the development proposed can be permitted 
subject to conditions. 
 
Through reduced vehicular traffic movements in the peak hours, 
the development would therefore not reduce air quality.  
 

Community balance The proposed development includes a mix of dwelling sizes and 
is not considered to result in an over concentration of a 
particular residential use type in the area.  
 

Access and Parking The development will result in the loss of 220 car parking 
spaces associated with the current retail park and reprovision of 
32 car parking spaces for the use of the proposed development.  
 
This privately owned car park is underutilised by the retail park, 
as the retail park is currently underoccupied.  The area is 
accessible by walking and cycling and public transport including 
Park and Ride, and is supported by alternative car parks. It is 
not considered that the loss of the car park will materially affect 
the accessibility of the Canal Basin and Quay area or can be 
resisted for any planning reason. 
 
The development proposes to provide 32 parking spaces on site 
accessed form Water Lane, including five car club spaces and 
two disabled spaces. Low car development, supported by good 
sustainable transport provision, is considered appropriate on 
this accessible brownfield site. The on-street parking in this area 
is controlled and the development can be excluded from 
eligibility for residents parking. 
 
Good provision both in quantum and location is made for 
resident’s cycle parking.  
 
The development includes improvements to permeability of the 
site by pedestrian and cycles both in routes and the 
attractiveness and public safety of those routes.  
 

Page 21



 6

Issue Conclusion 
The development is not considered to give rise to any 
unacceptable impact on highway safety and the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network are not severe and 
hence it is not considered that there are any grounds for refusal 
of the application for Highways reasons. 
 

Impact on Ecology, 
Trees and 
Biodiversity 

The site contains trees that make an amenity contribution and  
are subject of a Tree Preservation Order. The position of the 
trees would significantly restrict the development of the site if 
they were all required to be retained.  Management of the trees 
has not been to a high standard.  
 
The proposed development will result in the loss of 16 trees 
assessed to be of moderate quality and low quality. The layout 
has been amended to retain a prominent Norway Maple tree on 
the Haven Banks frontage. Nine trees on the boundary with the 
residential properties on Stream Court and Diamond Road are 
proposed to be retained but if damaged will be replaced. 
 
The proposed landscaping scheme for the site includes new 
tree planting including locations for up to 26 trees and includes 
trees positioned in locations with opportunity to grow to 
substantial height and spread. This will give a strong landscape 
structure to the site. Trees are introduced on the boundary with 
Chandlers Court. New tree planting is also proposed to the 
central public circulation spaces and in the Water Lane frontage.  
 
The proposed development includes a 24.73% biodiversity net 
gain.  
 
Contributions to mitigate the identified impacts of the proposed 
residential development on the Exe Estuary SPA can be 
secured.  
 

Housing supply The Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing 
land supply, and the ‘tilted balance’ in favour of development as 
set out in the NPPF is therefore engaged when considering the 
application. 
 
The development would provide 184 units of co-living 
accommodation and 239 flats which would make a substantial 
contribution towards meeting the housing shortfall, and should 
be afforded substantial positive weight in the planning balance.  
 

Sustainable 
Construction and 
Energy 

The proposed development includes Air Source Heat Pumps 
and 56kW of solar photovoltaic panels. The development relies 
on electrical power. Through these measures and passive 

Page 22



 7

Issue Conclusion 
Conservation design and other energy efficiency measures the applicant has 

estimated the design will allow for a 53.95% carbon reduction 
from a base Part L 2021 compliance build. BREEAM Excellent 
standard is required by the Core Strategy for the non-residential 
elements of the development. The site can be secured to be 
able to connect to a future District Heat Network  
 
A sustainable construction waste strategy will be secured by a 
condition.  
 

CIL and S106 
contributions 

A Section 106 legal agreement can secure: 
  Sustainable Transport measures contribution 

£100,000.00 towards pedestrian and cycle 
improvements in the vicinity of the site 

  On-site Affordable Housing of 20% of units for Build to 
Rent development 

  Contribution, in combination with other developments in 
the Water Lane Area, to the delivery of Strategic Flood 
Escape Route for Water Lane Area in a timely manner. 
Sum to be confirmed following options appraisal and 
technical design 

  £76,448.84 – towards provision of Equipped Children’s 
Play Space, and Informal Youth Facilities,  

  Provision of five car club vehicles with parking spaces 
and charging infrastructure 

  Provision of 6 electric hire cycles, parking and charging 
infrastructure 

  Travel Plan for residents, including provision of initial 
period car club membership to residents.  

  £187,256.00 for local GP surgeries expansion  
  £533,006.25 to Devon County Council Education 

towards the provision of primary school infrastructure  
  £25,250.00 towards Early Years education to ensure 

delivery of provision for 2-, 3- and 4-year-olds 
  Access control Improvements and additional tree 

planting in Piazza Terracina, £52,000.00 
  Traffic Orders 
  Management Plan (co-living) 
  Pedestrian rights of way though development 
  Habitats Mitigation for residential where CIL is not 

payable. 
 
The development will also generate approximately £787,500 in 
CIL. 

Page 23



 8

Issue Conclusion 
Development Plan, 
five-year housing land 
supply, and 
presumption in favour 
of sustainable 
development 

NPPF paragraph 11 states: Plans and decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision-
taking, this means: c) approving development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay.  
 
The proposal subject to the imposition of conditions is 
considered to accord with the Development Plan as a whole.  
 
The Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing 
land supply, though the shortfall is considered to be modest, the 
‘tilted balance’ in favour of granting consent as set out in the 
NPPF has to be applied when determining the application. 
 

5.0 Description of site 
The 1.7 hectare site is located outside and approximately 0.5 mile to the south of the city 
centre. It lies between Haven Road and Water Lane ‘west’ of the River Exe and close to the 
historic Canal Basin area. 
 
The existing site is currently under-occupied with buildings currently or previously in use for 
leisure (10 Pin Bowling) and retail uses in a single storey portal frame buildings with surface car 
parking. Current vehicular access is from both Water Lane and Haven Road. With service 
vehicles accessing the site from Water Lane. 
 
Historically southern parts of the site have been open ground associated with the Electricity 
Generating Building which used to occupy the northern part of the site in its former larger 
footprint.  
 
To the northeast the site frontage faces Haven Road and adjoins the rear of the climbing centre 
(former Electricity Generating Building) which is Locally Listed. Residential developments on 
Haven Road are three and four storeys in height. To the northwest the site is adjoined by 
residential development, which is two storey in Stream Court and Diamond Road, with adjacent 
flats fronting Water Lane being three storey. To the southeast the site is adjoined by two storey 
residential development in Chandlers Walk. Water Lane in the vicinity of the site is two and 
three storey residential with some commercial, storage and light industrial uses.  
 
The site is adjacent the boundary of Riverside Conservation Area which includes all the land 
north of Haven Road but also the climbing centre in the former Electricity Generating Building.  
 
There are 16 trees TPO trees [TPO 561] which are within or on the edge of the current car 
parking areas. 
 
The land is identified as potentially contaminated and Alphington Road is designated as part 
of the Air Quality Management Area. 
 
The Site is in Floodzone 3, protected by the River Exe Flood Defences. 
 

Page 24



 9

The north end of the climbing centre building contains electricity distribution infrastructure, this 
the access to, the routing of electricity cables and the associated wayleaves, together with fire 
escape from the upper level of the Climbing Centre all constrain development in that area. 
 

6.0 Description of development 
Comprehensive redevelopment to deliver a new, mixed-use neighbourhood, comprising 
demolition of existing buildings and construction of four residential-led mixed-use buildings of 
2 to 6 storeys, including retail, café/restaurant and flexible commercial units (Class E), 
residential (Class C3) and co-living (Sui Generis) accommodation, pedestrian square and 
public realm, amenity areas, landscaping, access, parking, servicing and associated works 
(revised plans). 
 
The proposed development is arranged as four blocks that are set out to allow pedestrian 
and cycle circulation from Haven Road behind the climbing centre building into a new public 
space. This space is activated at ground floor level by commercial uses (with residential uses 
above). A pedestrian and cycle route through the centre of the southern part of the site to 
Water Lane is landscaped and flanked by two residential blocks, including residential uses at 
at ground floor level. Vehicular access from Water Lane is proposed to a service and parking 
space on the southeast boundary. A block (A) fronting Haven Road rises to five full storeys, 
at the rear of the climbing centre and block D backing on to the northwest boundary is 
proposed as five, with the uppermost being recessed. Centrally block C is proposed rising to 
six storeys centrally as a recessed part storey over a predominantly five storey block the 
reduces in height towards the rear boundaries. 
 
Block A 
 
Block A provides 21 flats, 224 square metres of commercial floorspace, 21 cycle storage 
spaces and refuse storage. 86 square metres of external private amenity space and 382 
square metres of communal external amenity space is provided. This block has been 
redesigned since first submitted to reduce the footprint, increase height to five storey and 
retain an existing street tree in landscape. The residential entrances are from Haven Road 
and ground floor commercial units face south into a public space. Commercial Servicing is 
from Haven Road. 
 
The façade facing the rear of properties on Diamond Road steps down and arranges 
windows to reduce potential impacts of overlooking or overbearing.  
 
Block B 
Building B is arranged over four storeys with residential over a partially commercial ground 
floor. It provides 20 flats, 222 square metres of commercial floorspace in a single unit, 20 
cycle storage spaces and refuse storage. The residential access is via a front door located 
centrally to the building, and the is a rear service access serving both the commercial and 
residential uses. 
 
Block C 
Building C is a linear arrangement cranked and articulated and arranged principally over five 
storeys stepping down to two storeys where it extends closest to dwellings on Chandlers 

Page 25



 10

Court, and with a partial sixth storey centrally. It provides 198 flats, 222 cycle storage spaces 
and refuse storage. External private amenity space is provided as ground level gardens 
either side of a communal lounge and workspace, and as a roof terrace. A Gym space is 
proposed at ground floor level to activate the circulation spaces. 
 
Block D 
Building D provides 184 units of co-living accommodation arranged as four full storeys with 
an additional recessed fifth storey. The building is divided by a central single storey entrance 
space and the residential accommodation is supported by 878 square metres of communal 
internal amenity space, 868 square metres of external communal amenity space and 184 
cycle parking spaces, 70 square metres of commercial floorspace and a site management 
office. Communal amenity spaces include a resident lounge and workspace, cinema, 
meeting room, launderette on the ground floor. The management suite is also situated on the 
ground floor. Kitchen and lounge spaces are provided for residents on each part of the upper 
floors, Communal outdoor space is provided at ground floor courtyard, first floor podium and 
upper floor terraces. The commercial floorspace as a single ‘lock up’ unit on the elevation 
closest to Haven Road activating the public spaces.  
 
The application was submitted in August 2022, and revised in February 2023 and again in 
June 2023. 
 

7.0 Supporting information provided by applicant 
The application is supported by: 

  Plans, sections and elevation drawings. 
  Planning Statement 
  Design and Access Statement and  Addendum  
  Air Quality Assessment 
  Tree Survey 
  Land Contamination Assessment 
  Ecological Assessment 
  Sustainability appraisal 
  Overheating report 
  Fire Statement 
  Flood risk assessment 
  Heritage statement 
  Landscaping details 
  Noise impact assessment 
  Statement of community involvement 
  Transport assessment 
  Delivery Servicing Management Plan 
  Framework Travel plan 
  Site waste management plan 
  Verified Views 
  Sequential site search 
  Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan  
 

Page 26



 11

8.0 Relevant planning history 
 
23/1114/FUL Change of use of Units 1 and 2 

from retail (Class E) to a place of 
worship and ancillary uses 
(Class F1) (temporary period of 
twelve months). 

Pending  

 

9.0 List of constraints  
Flood Zone 3 
Exe Estuary Habitat Buffer 
Smoke Control Area 
Potential Contaminated Land 
Aerodrome Safeguarding Area 
Tree Protection Order 561  
Locally Listed Building – Electricity Generating Building 
Riverside Conservation Area  
Air Quality Management Area 
 

10.0 Consultations 
All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the Council’s website. 
 
Environment Agency 
Based on the information now submitted, and assuming your Authority is satisfied with the 
emergency planning implications associated with the application, we consider that the 
proposed development will be acceptable provided that: A financial contribution towards a 
safe access and egress route, and provision of a means to tie-in the development with it, (or 
other agreed emergency planning solution) are secured via a S106 Agreement; and planning 
conditions are included within any permission granted in respect of: Construction 
management, Final levels and flood flow route; Flood resistance and resilience measures; 
site investigation and remediation; piling; and unsuspected contamination. 
 
Historic England 
Historic England’s interest relates to the impact of the proposal on the grade II* listed 
Colleton Crescent and the character and appearance of the Canal Basin, part of the 
Riverside Conservation Area. The scheme will from a notable addition into the locality, but 
steps have been taken to reduce the overall harmful impact that it could cause to the 
experience of the Canal Basin and the grade II* listed Colleton Crescent (NPPF, Para 195). 
The council in their consideration of the application should therefore be satisfied that the 
proposed scheme meets the requirements of Para 8, NPPF, advocating a more considered 
balance of the overarching objectives and therefore delivering a sustainable development. 
This should include opportunities to enhance or better reveal significance of the affected 
heritage assets (NPPF, Para 130, 197(c) and 206). In Historic England's view, the council 
should determine the application in line with national and local policy and legislation.  

Page 27



 12

 
Natural England 
This advice relates to proposed developments that falls within the ‘zone of influence’ (ZOI) 
for one or more European designated sites, such as Exe Estuary SAC. It is anticipated that 
new residential development within this zone is ‘likely to have a significant effect’, when 
considered either alone or in combination, upon the qualifying features of the European Site 
due to the risk of increased recreational pressure that could be caused by that development 
and therefore such development will require an appropriate assessment. Your authority has 
measures in place to manage these potential impacts through a strategic solution which we 
have advised will in our view be reliable and effective in preventing adverse effects on the 
integrity of the relevant European Site(s) from such impacts associated with such 
development.  
 
Providing that the appropriate assessment concludes that the measures are secured as 
planning conditions or obligations by your authority to ensure their strict implementation for 
the full duration of the development, and providing that there are no other likely significant 
effects identified (on this or other protected sites) as requiring to be considered by your 
authority’s appropriate assessment, Natural England indicates that it is likely to be satisfied 
that your appropriate assessments will be able to ascertain that there will be no adverse 
effect on the integrity of the European Site (from recreational pressure in view of its 
conservation objectives). Natural England will likely have no further comment regarding the 
Appropriate Assessment, in relation to recreational disturbance.  
 
Active Travel England 
No response received. 
 
NHS – Devon Integrated Care Board 
This development is in the catchment of: Ide Lane Surgery, St Thomas Health Centre, 
Southernhay House Surgery, Barnfield Hill Surgery which have a total capacity for 32,050 
patients. The current patient list size is 44,347 which is already over capacity by 12,297 
patients (at 138% of capacity). Additional GP space required to support this development 
and a total contribution required has been calculated as £186,257.00 
 
Royal Devon University Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
The Trust is currently operating at full capacity in the provision of acute and planned 
healthcare. The contribution is being sought to provide health infrastructure services and 
facilities needed by the occupants of the new homes. The development directly affects the 
ability to provide the health service required to those who live in the development and the 
community at large. Without contributions to maintain the capacity by delivery of health care 
services at the required quality standard and to secure adequate health care for the locality 
the proposed development will place increased pressure on the said health infrastructure, 
putting patients at increased risk. This development imposes an additional demand on 
existing over-burdened healthcare services, and failure to make the requested level of 
healthcare provision will detrimentally affect safety and care quality for both new and existing 
local population. This will mean that patients will receive substandard care, resulting in 
poorer health outcomes and pro-longed health problems. Such an outcome is not 
sustainable as it will have a detrimental socio-economic impact. The Trust acknowledges that 
housing developments are constructed and occupied in phases and therefore is willing to 
negotiate staged payments of the total sum claimed. The money will be spent to meet the 

Page 28



 13

marginal costs of increasing the capacity by direct delivery of healthcare for the additional 
population. As the calculation is directly linked to the patient address, it is also easily verified. 
This will include the cost of medical, nursing and other health professional staff, which may 
be incurred at a premium rate. The money will also meet increases in other direct costs 
associated with healthcare delivery, for example, diagnostic examinations, consumables, 
equipment and maintenance. In the circumstances, without the requested contributions to 
support the increasing the capacity the planning permission should not be granted. The 
contribution requested for this proposed development of is £203,848.  
 
Public Health Devon 
We note the improvements [through amendments] to cycle access, storage, general amenity, 
and increased communal spaces. In relation to air quality, of increasing concern in terms of 
public health, note the use of electrically powered air source heat pumps that should reduce 
potential impacts on local air quality. The overall air quality within the area is further 
managed by inclusion of a travel plan, which should sit within the wider air quality 
management measures of the City and County Council’s. 
 
Devon & Somerset Fire and Rescue 
The drawings on the planning portal would appear (without prejudice) to satisfy the criteria 
we would require for B5 access under Building Regulations. The Fire and Rescue Authority 
is a statutory consultee under the current Building Regulations and will make detailed 
comments at that time when consulted by building control (or approved inspector). 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer  
Co-living arrangements is a relatively new concept in the city. I note within the DAS that ‘Co-
living offers a platform for younger professional generations in particular, but not exclusively’. 
From a policing perspective, if the development is available to anyone over the age of 18, 
this could lead to people with a wide mix of lifestyles, health needs, dependencies, 
safeguarding issues being housed together sharing communal space which could cause 
conflict. Therefore, details on what vetting will be conducted and how the site will be 
managed, including clear management policies and procedures will be crucial to its running.  
The DAS also states that ‘creating a professional, well connected, respectful community is 
key to successful communal living’. Given the nature of Co-Living developments it seems 
likely that the resident population could be somewhat transient with potentially a high 
turnover of individuals. This can make creating a feeling of community somewhat 
challenging. Shared amenity space is a key element of the Co-Living model, so detailing 
ways in which a sense of community and ownership can be created needs to be considered 
and demonstrated. If such a sense is not created, it leaves the development vulnerable as 
residents don’t identify with communal space and become disassociated from them leading 
to an increase in crime and anti-social behaviour. 
 
Advice given and conditions requested regarding physical security, mail delivery, lighting, 
CCTV, management, access control, and landscape detail. 
 
South West Water 
SWW have no objection subject to the foul and surface water being managed in accordance 
with the submitted drainage strategy. Advice regarding protection of SWW assets provided. 
  

Page 29



 14

Wales and West Utilities 
No response received. 
 
Western Power Distribution 
No response received. 
 
DCC Highways & Transport 
The applicant has provided a detailed Transport Assessment as part of the application which 
is broadly acceptable. The existing site generates a significant level of movement in the AM 
and PM peak hours and it has been demonstrated that the site would represent a reduction 
of vehicle movements. It should be noted that there is an increase in the overall movements 
to and from the proposed development but this includes sustainable modes of transport such 
as pedestrians and cyclists. The reduction in vehicle movements would mean that there 
would be less vehicles on the surrounding network and less of an impact on surrounding 
junctions. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that a planning application 
can only be refused on highway grounds if the impact is severe. It would be unreasonable to 
refuse the planning application on highways grounds when the development represents a 
decrease in vehicle movements. 
 
Design 
 
Currently Haven Road runs to the north of the proposed development and serves other 
residential areas. The proposal would have a section to the north that would become 
pedestrianised to allow for the greater movement of Non-Motorised Users (NMU's) to access 
other networks such as the cycle network and Exeter City. The Highway Authority does not 
have an objection in principle to this, but the detailed design (post-planning should the 
members be minded to grant consent) would need to ensure that the appropriate Road 
Safety Audits and detailed drawings are submitted in order to facilitate this. The type of 
surface used would also need to be considered and during the detailed design as not all 
surfaces are adoptable by the Highway Authority but there may be a need for a demarcation 
between surfaces for the benefit of all users. There would appear to be sufficient permeability 
within the site that would allow for the movement of non-motorised users from Water Lane to 
use the wider network. Looking at other uses in the vicinity of the site this will help facilitate 
NMU's from surrounding areas. A waste management plan shows the proposed movements 
that a refuse lorry would take and it has also been demonstrated that the largest vehicle that 
would access the site has been tracked and can show that there would be no highway safety 
concerns over this movement and such would not be contrary to the NPPF. When looking at 
the internal aspects of the development, there are sections of proposed road with turning 
heads that could be offered up to the Highway Authority for adoption. They may not be fully 
in line with the adoptable standards for Devon County Council as the Highway Authority, but 
this would not be a reason for the Highway Authority to recommend refusal. 
 
Parking 
 
The applicant has provided details of a reduced parking scheme for vehicles with limited 
parking. Although sustainability would be an area the LPA would comment on, it should be 
noted there are links to the city for NMU's as well as other travel methods. The parking for 
the development is reduced and there will be limited parking within the development. It is 

Page 30



 15

noted that there will be the removal of a public car park within the site that will reduce the 
numbers of parking spaces available. There are a number of car parks available within close 
proximity to this development and from my onsite observations it would be within walking 
distance. 
 
Traffic Regulation Orders  
 
With the change of the priority of Haven Road and the pedestrian priority, The developer 
must solely provide the monies for all Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO's) within the proposed 
site and to resolve any impacts of the development on the highway network within the 
appropriate vicinity. It would not be for the Highway Authority to sponsor any TRO's as result. 
 
DCC Flooding and Coastal Risk 
Following the submission of additional information in relation to the surface water drainage 
aspects we have no in-principle objections to the above planning application at this stage, 
assuming that a recommended pre-commencement planning condition is imposed on any 
permission. 
 
DCC Waste Planning Authority 
Within the waste management plan submitted, the applicant has considered the approaches 
to minimise waste where possible as well as demonstrating the management of waste in 
accordance with the waste hierarchy. It is also noted that only 44% of the waste will be 
recycled, with the rest being sent to landfill. Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan requires that 
for any waste materials that are unsuitable for reuse, recycling or recovery, the applicant 
should provide confirmation of the location for their disposal. We therefore request that the 
Waste Management Plan is updated to provide details of the landfill site. 
 
DCC Public Health  
This is a positive use of a brown field site that is going to provide a large amount of 
affordable housing and retail units.  The development will provide an urban setting that 
encourages the use of sustainable travel using existing cycling and walking infrastructure 
together with opportunities for employment within a central city location.  New developments 
should provide high-quality, human-scale buildings with healthy working and living, internal 
and external, environments that will promote the long-term health and comfort of their 
occupants. Recommendations regarding ventilation, affordable housing, sustainable travel, 
landscaping, and rerail unit occupation. 
 
 
DCC Education In order to make the development acceptable in planning terms, an 
education contribution to mitigate its impact will be requested. This development is adjacent 
to the wider Water Lane strategic allocation.  The strategy to mitigate the education impact of 
Water Lane is for new primary provision which will serve both the allocation and the 
proposed Haven Banks development. Devon County Council will therefore seek contributions 
to support the additional primary education infrastructure required. The primary contribution 
sought is based on the DfE new build rate of £20,305 per pupil.  This equates to a per family 
type dwelling rate of £5,076.25. 
  

Page 31



 16

A contribution towards Early Years education would also be required to ensure delivery of 
provision for 2-, 3- and 4-year-olds. A contribution of £250 per dwelling would be requested 
towards Early Years. This would be used to provide additional early years provision for 
children generated by the proposed development which would be delivered at the proposed 
new primary school. 
  
There is sufficient secondary capacity to accommodate the number of secondary pupils 
expected to be generated from this development. Therefore, a contribution towards 
secondary education will not be sought against this development. 
  
All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should be noted that education 
infrastructure contributions are based on June 2020 prices and any indexation applied to 
contributions requested should be applied from this date. 
 
ECC Heritage 
Given the proposed height and massing the submitted scheme has the capacity to affect 
numerous heritage assets. I have considered the supporting information and can confirm that 
the heritage assessment methodology is both appropriate and commensurate. The scheme 
has been reduced in scale and impact in response to previous concerns, most notably the 
effect upon the setting of the Grade II* Listed Colleton Crescent, Canal Basin, and the 
historic quay. In my view the revisions have reduced the impact of the scheme to acceptable 
levels, whilst there will be some change to the context of the heritage assets, that change 
does not equate to significant harm. 
 
The archaeological potential of the development envelope will require further investigation, 
the current brownfield uses of the area has precluded pre application evaluation; this must be 
addressed as the sites come forward for redevelopment and I suggest these investigations 
should be secured by condition. The findings of each stage should be used to inform a 
research strategy for the development as a whole and be collated into a single report and 
archive made available to the residents and the wider community. In this way any harm can 
be mitigated and the cumulative effect of the development would meet the provisions of 
(NPPF, Para 130, 197(c) and 206). 
 
ECC Environmental Health 
Recommend approval with conditions: Contaminated Land, cumulative noise limits, sound 
insulation, ventilation details, use of external spaces, kitchen extraction to high level, 
commercial kitchen smoke, odour and grease emissions details, Construction Method 
Statement, light spill impact assessment. 
 
ECC Trees Manager 
The re-design attempts to retain more of the existing trees on the site boundaries, however 
my arboricultural objection still stands for the following reasons: The amended site layout still 
fails to retain significant and important trees, on the Haven Road and Water Lane frontages. 
The spatial relationship between the proposed building layout and trees to be retained on the 
northern boundary is poor. There is a lack of consideration for root protection areas (RPAs), 
working space (during development), future growth potential and the inevitable ongoing 
conflicts between the trees and the buildings as a result. The building footprint dominates the 
site, with minimal space allocated and available for large tree planting, where they can reach 

Page 32



 17

their full potential. Much of the proposed planting appears to be within the development, 
where it will be obscured from wider view and tree growth is likely to restricted, by the density 
of proposed planting, the surrounding buildings and hard landscape. Therefore, the proposed 
tree planting is expected to offer little in the way of visual amenity and replacement value for 
the removed trees.  
 
ECC Waste and Recycling 
The plans show a mixed development and I recommend that commercial waste is stored 
separately to domestic waste. Domestic bins stores need to be easily accessible for the 
collection crews, pull out distance is indicated in the attached document. Bin capacity is 
calculated on 60 litres per person per fortnight for refuse and 60 litres per person per 
fortnight for recycling. Provision for a separate food waste collection in 140 litre bins also 
need to be taken into account as this will be mandatory from 2025. 
 
Exeter Civic Society 
The amendments have addressed some of our concerns. We are disappointed that despite 
offering 1–3-bedroom apartments, the proposals still do not provide any children’s 
playground or teenager amenities. We do not see how the NPPF guidance for ‘the 
desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting’, ‘the importance of 
securing well-designed, attractive healthy places’, and ‘that developments will function well 
and add to the overall quality of the area, are visually attractive, are sympathetic to local 
character and history, establish or maintain a strong sense of place’, is remotely met by 
these proposals. We wonder whether light levels to adjacent occupiers would be below limits 
in winter. We still consider the height of the development to be significantly too high. We 
think the impact on existing neighbourhoods should become a priority for the new 
development, as old and new need to integrate The density of almost 300 units per hectare 
(dph is well above what LDA Design’s 2021 ‘Exeter Density Study recommends as a 
minimum for future development in this area at 120 dph. Because of this central issue and 
remaining inadequacies of the proposals highlighted in our response further down, the Civic 
Society still objects to this application.  
 
The very low number of cars parking may act as a negative filter for those who can live here. 
The developer is proposing just 2 disabled parking spaces. We support the provision of co-
cars for the residents of this development, a range of vehicles should support their needs. 
This will result in the loss of the 205 car parking spaces that supported the area. Use of 
alternative Car parks will create more traffic on Haven Road. Cycle Hub not evident and not 
enough visitors cycle parking. Cycle parking should exceed Local Standards given low car 
parking levels. 
 
We welcome the choice of passive design, air source heat pumps and of photovoltaic 
modules on roofs. Considering building integrated photovoltaic solutions. Contamination 
investigation is essential and investigation should also reveal the course and condition of the 
stream beneath. The water management for the site does not include considerations of grey-
water recycling. In respect of waste disposal and recycling, we question whether small 
apartments and studios have adequate space to separate waste. 
 
With the removal of Mallinsons Bridge, pedestrians and cyclists use a narrow path to 
Commercial Road which is already inadequate. The application should be expected to make 
a contribution towards the proposed replacement to mitigate the expected increase in ‘traffic’ 
on this route. Bridges over the flood relief channel are far too narrow to accommodate 

Page 33



 18

additional pedestrians and cyclists. The application should be expected to make a 
contribution towards widening these bridges to mitigate the expected increase in ‘traffic’ on 
this route. Work is needed to ensure safe crossing points for pedestrians from the point 
adjacent to block A, and the footpath adjacent to The Coolings. 
 
Living Options Devon 
No response received. 
 
Friends of Exeter Ship Canal 
We object to the planning application for the Haven Banks comprehensive redevelopment. 
We believe that the proposed redevelopment stands in direct contrast to aspirations for the 
revival and long-term future of the canal, its basin, and the surrounding waterside area. We 
believe that the proposed development poses a significant impact on public health and 
wellbeing and pays minimal attention to the impact that this massive infrastructural change 
will have on the public at large and on an area of conservation that supports significant 
biodiversity and the waterside and waterway, as entities, respectively. We believe the 
proposed over-development will impinge on access for boaters and other waterway users, 
businesses, local communities, and visitors and therefore on the development of a bustling 
heritage harbourside. It will therefore be to the detriment of the sharing of new and traditional 
skills, more and varied use of the waterway by passenger and other boats, and of Exeter as 
a showcase for heritage and increasing visitor activities on and off the water. Losses such as 
these are for generations. 
 
RSPB 
To create a further enhancement for birds and in accordance with the South and South-West 
Exeter Residential Design Guide SPD (Exeter City Council, 2010) nesting opportunities for 
birds would be created through the provision of nest boxes incorporated into the new 
buildings, with such features positioned so as to provide easy access to linear features or 
grouped as some bird species prefer. This should include six swift boxes / bricks (Vivara Pro 
or similar) on the northern elevation, at least five metres from ground level and not over any 
windows. This development comprises of four separate blocks and whilst it would be difficult 
to justify one box per residential unit, we strongly recommend that a finite number are agreed 
and made a condition of the consent. The Standard describes a box that will be used by 
most if not all bird species that nest in cavities in older buildings or mature trees see 
attached. It is not necessary to locate integral boxes on North Facing elevations, we suggest 
a minimum of six clusters of four boxes in sheltered positions across all four elevations of 
each block making a total of ninety-six. 
 
Exeter Cycling Campaign 
We welcome much of the thinking and aspiration that underpins this application. The desire 
to build a dense, low/no-car development within walking / cycling distance of services and 
amenities in the city centre. City centre, dense housing is important for building our city in a 
way that aligns with our aspiration to be a carbon net-zero city. We particularly welcome that 
this scheme has car-free routes, with limited vehicle access and the attempts to make the 
site permeable for people walking and cycling. We welcome commitments to implement a 
travel plan and future monitoring but would stress that driving infrastructure has the biggest 
impact on increasing walking and cycling rather than weak ‘encouragement’ to cycle. We do 
have some concerns and questions about this development which centre on permeability, 
cycle routes and the quality and quantity of cycle parking: Not connecting to Diamond Road 
is a missed opportunity, Access to the site from the northeast is still poor, status of routes 
through the site needs to be clarified, cycle parking meets current standards but should be 

Page 34



 19

higher, visitor cycle parking should be located near building entrances, more room including 
for maintenance should be provided within cycle stores. 
 
Haven Banks Residents Group 
We believe the Retail Park site should be developed to provide much-needed housing stock 
and we are in favour of some form of residential development on this site. However, we do 
not believe the developer has properly considered the characteristics of this proposal and its 
impacts on the rest of Exeter. Our list of concerns: Heritage and Character of The Quay area, 
Fire Safety, Errors and Omissions in the Submission, reduced Daylight and Sunlight 
neighbouring homes, increase in flood  risk to existing buildings, means of escape in case of 
flood should be in place before development,  local utilities and infrastructure need 
reinforcing, inadequate local Healthcare provision, loss of car park will cause harm to Quay 
businesses, will not be able to host events without parking, will lead to more on street parking 
pressure, loss of trees, potential damage to existing properties, development does not 
appear to be accessible, views of development provided are deficient, no space provided for 
community centre, development is not in keeping with the area, size of buildings will impact 
on skyline and residents health, right of way through the site should be secured, 
development will increase traffic and deliveries.  
 
Our concerns with co-living developments are: the sub-standard space allocated to 
occupants, the high density of the developments, the unaffordable rents charged for these 
properties, the physical size of such developments in relation to their neighbours, the impact 
on local infrastructure, and the experimental nature of such developments. 
 
Exeter Design Quality Partnership (Design Review Panel) May 2023 
As at the first review, the Design Review Panel (now the Exeter Design Quality Partnership) 
supports a comprehensive redevelopment of the Haven Banks Retail Park that appears to be 
coming to the end of its useful life and is at odds with the scale and character of its 
surroundings. We commend the ambition to form ‘a key part of a vibrant urban village’ and 
to ‘integrate’ the site with Water Lane and the piazza at the head of the canal basin.  The 
DQP also appreciates the aim to accentuate pedestrian and cycle dominance in the area,  
and to establish a strong pedestrian route through the site. We consider the net loss of 220 
parking spaces to be appropriate in this location. DQP welcomes most of the changes made 
in response to our comments in 2022, but some aspects have not evolved as we wished to 
see. Since April 2022, positive aspects include the retention of the central spine and loop as 
un-gated public space, addition of more balconies, relationship to spaces adjacent Maritime 
Court, the alleviation of some long and featureless internal corridors, the enlarged provision 
and better location of communal space in Block D, the retention of a tree on Haven Road that 
contributes to the street scene, measures towards biodiversity net gain, and an all-electric 
scheme with at least part of the eat/energy needs met by heat pumps and photovoltaics on 
site. DQP recommendations include more mixed tenure, adopt strong measurable 
environmental sustainability criteria, refinement of Block A, Block C should be broken up, 
consideration should be given to wind, play space will be shaded and can be more creative. 
EDQP does not see height as an issue though in our view the scheme is at the limit of what 
may be accepted. The scheme should not encroach on views of Dartmoor from Colleton 
Crescent. The EDQP supports the emerging roofscape. The relationship with Diamond Road 
has been improved. The palette as shown for block B is of concern at this stage. Balconies 
will help but need further refinement. Block D has benefitted from the redesign. The service 
road could be designed more creatively. The landscape design approach is sound, but trees 
should not be lost without justification. Primacy of walking and cycling is commendable, and 

Page 35



 20

we welcome the shared mobility provision. The raised table crossing in Haven Road is 
welcome. 

11.0 Representations  
The application has been advertised by sites notices, press notice and neighbour letters. The 
application was advertised in September 2022 when received and in February 2023 when 
substantially revised plans and additional and revised supporting information was submitted. 
 
A total of 358 public representations have been received. 
353 objections were received raising the following concerns: 
Objections: 
  Additional traffic and pollution 
  Impact of deliveries 
  Site should provide affordable housing for local people 
  Loss of light to all neighbours  
  Loss of privacy due to the proximity and height  
  Loss of parking to support  
  Loss of trees  
  Local services: local GPs, post office, rubbish collection, schools cannot cope 
  Goes against the Council planning for a Green City.  
  Design is completely incongruous 
  it is completely out of keeping with any buildings nearby 
  Co-living accommodation of this type has no place anywhere in our city  
  You cannot live in co-living permanently without it affecting your mental health.  
  This will put people off from visiting the historic quay 
  It will make the area more urban then rural. 
  It will increase more anti-social behaviour.  
  Loss of privacy 
  Noise and pollution during construction 
  We will lose our wildlife which is struggling as it is.  
  We do not need another London city,  
  Everyone comes to Exeter as it has a perfect balance between urban and rural 
  Loss of privacy to surrounding houses 
  The proposed height of the buildings is too high 
  Noise and disturbance 
  Should not be access through Diamond Road  
  Loss of light to surrounding houses 
  Not in keeping with the local area 
  Inadequate parking for the development 
  Public transport in the area is inadequate and unreliable, another reason why the 

residents would be relying on travel by car.  
  Construction traffic 
  These buildings are ugly high-rise hutches 

Page 36



 21

Objections: 
  Impact on traffic, only one road in and out of area 
  Getting rid of one of the only carparks by the quayside will obviously affect tourism.  
  Lack of amenities  
  This development does not fit comfortably within the plot or with the character of the 

local area.  
  Water Lane already is subject to flooding and is not a sae escape route 
  It is unduly large 
  Very out of proportion with existing buildings 
  It would have a serious adverse effect of the appearance of the Quay area, and 

Exeter City generally. 
  The massing, density, extreme height, lack of outside light and space for the 

residents, and lack of internal natural lights within accommodation and corridors, 
show a development of poor design and quality.  

  The architectural design is visibly unsympathetic and unattractive.  
  The area is regarded of much importance to Exeter, historical and attractive, and 

any proposed development must therefore be of high quality and in keeping with the 
existing buildings. 

  There would be a significant loss of privacy to immediate neighbouring homes  
  There would be an overbearing impact and loss of sunlight and daylight due to the 

density and height of the proposal. 
  The shadowing would not only effect existing homes, buildings, roads but within the 

development itself 
  Loss of the existing parking on the site will be an issue - visitors require parking. 
  Parking will spill out into other roads causing significant issue. 
  Resident car ownership brings a significant increase in traffic,  
  Parcel and food deliveries will bring hundreds of vehicles and vans into the area on 

a weekly / monthly basis.  
  The traffic impact study therefore appears flawed vs reality. 
  Highway safety will also be compromised. 
  Congestion already slows the emergency vehicles in the area 
  Noise and general disturbance will increase due to a large increase in population on 

a small site, with outside communal terraces.  
  Loss of trees is a concern, are there protection orders on the mature trees? 
  A development of this size and nature, would also need the supporting infrastructure 

and  
  There is a need for increased housing provision in Exeter, but for Exeter, this is 

completely the wrong site for such a proposal,  
  This area needs development but this feels greedy and about profit not people.  
  This development would be a long-term disaster for the Quay which is the jewel of 

Exeter. 
  Need better routes to supermarkets 

Page 37



 22

Objections: 
  Haven Road already is very difficult to use, for bikes and cars, it's narrow and in 

places only suitable for one vehicle and there is an industrial estate that attracts 
lorries and vans that all have to negotiate the traffic by the quay.  

  This development hopes to encourage people to walk by providing so few parking 
spaces but that is just a hope.  

  So many more residents in the area could impact on the usability of the quay.  
  The development is massive and there is no sufficient infrastructure to support it. 
  The height of the proposed development will block the view and the privacy of 

neighbours  
  The development is massive and too dense which is incompatible with the protection 

of heritage and character  
  Parking and congestion are already lived realities for local residents and workers.  
  Out of keeping with area of historic buildings and Victorian Housing 
  Access by bus is poor 
  Building will tower over neighbours causing loss of light 
  This will spoil the character of the quayside 
  It is not justifiable that no parking is required for the 400+ flats.  
  Only one entrance and one exit to Haven Banks together with the busy Alphington 

Street/Alphington Road will further increase the congestion problem to the area.  
  Noise and general disturbance will increase dramatically due to the number of 

people in a really confined space.  
  Increased parking demand in Chandlers Walk. 
  A fire safety survey has not been adequately completed.  
  Loss of car park will mean people go elsewhere 
  This will reduce peace and tranquillity in the area 
  Should be small houses with gardens 
  Additional pressure on the sewage system 
  Noise from new bars will ruin quality of life  
  Will lead to more crime and security risks 
  Should be more visitor cycle parking and electric cycles 
  Should have more parking underground 

 
5 representations in support gave the following reasons; 

  Supports sustainable transport,  
  Addresses housing needs for the residents of Exeter 
  Supports more housing 
  Car club and hire cycles supported 
  Dilapidated retail units and their parking spaces can be better utilised 
  Bringing more people into city centre will support culture and business 
  Better than building on edge of city 
  Quay needs more apartments and more density 

Page 38



 23

12.0 Relevant policies 
National Planning Policies 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023) – in particular sections:  
2. Achieving sustainable development  
4. Decision-making  
5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes  
6. Building a strong, competitive economy 
7. Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
9. Promoting sustainable transport 
11. Making effective use of land  
12. Achieving well-designed places  
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
National Design Guide (MHCLG, 2021)  
Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (DCLG March 2015) 
(NDSS) 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG):  

o Consultation and pre-decision matters  
o Design: process and tools  
o Effective use of land  
o Housing needs of different groups  
o Planning obligations  
o Use of planning conditions  

 
Development Plan  
 
Exeter Local Development Framework Core Strategy (Adopted 21 February 2012) 
CP1 – Spatial strategy 
CP3 – Previously developed land 
CP4 – Density 
CP5 – Mixed Housing 
CP7 – Affordable Housing  
CP8 - Retail 
CP9 – Transport 
CP10 – Community Facilities 
CP11 – Pollution 
CP12 – Flood Risk 
CP13 – Decentralised Energy 
CP15 – Sustainable Construction  
CP16 – Green Infrastructure, Landscape and Biodiversity  
CP17 – Design and Local Distinctiveness 
CP18 – Infrastructure  

Page 39



 24

 
Exeter Local Plan First Review 1995-2011(Adopted 31 March 2005) 
AP1 – Design and location of development 
AP2 – Sequential approach 
H1 – Search sequence 
H2 – Location priorities 
H5 – Diversity of Housing 
H7 – Housing for disabled people 
S1 – Retail 
S5 – Food and Drink 
L4 – Provision of playing fields 
T1 – Hierarchy of modes 
T2 – Accessibility criteria 
T3 – Encouraging use of sustainable modes 
T5 – Cycle route network 
T9 – Access to buildings by disabled persons 
T10 – Car parking standards 
C1 – Conservation Areas 
C2 – Listed Buildings 
C3 – Buildings of Local Importance 
C5 – Archaeology 
LS2 – Ramsar/Special Protection Area 
EN2 – Contaminated land 
EN3 – Air and water quality 
EN4 – Flood risk 
EN5 – Noise 
DG1 – Objectives of urban design 
DG2 – Energy Conservation  
DG3 – Commercial Development 
DG4 – Residential Development 
DG5 – Family Housing 
DG6 – Residential Parking 
DG7 – Safe Design 
KP6 – Canal and Quay 
 
Devon Waste Plan 2011 – 2031 (Adopted 11 December 2014) (Devon County 
Council) 
W4 – Waste Prevention 
W21 – Making Provision for Waste Management 
relevant. 
 
Other relevant planning policy documents 
Residential Design Guide SPD 2010 
Affordable Housing SPD 2014. 

Page 40



 25

Sustainable Transport SPD 2013 
Public Open Space SPD 2005 
Implementing Open Space Requirements SPG (2006) 
Trees and Development SPD 2009 
Planning Obligations SPD 2014 
Canal Basin Masterplan SPD 2004 
 
Other Material Considerations 
Draft Exeter Plan full draft 
The site is identified for mixed use development in the emerging Exeter Plan, as part of the 
Water Lane regeneration area (Site 15). 
 
Liveable Water Lane SPD: Development Framework and Design Code. 
Liveable Exeter: A transformational housing delivery programme 
Liveable Exeter Principles. 
 

13.0 Human rights  
Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property 
 
The consideration of the application in accordance with Council procedures will ensure that 
views of all those interested are considered. All comments from interested parties have been 
considered and reported within this report in summary with full text available via the Council’s 
website. 
 
It is acknowledged that there are certain properties where they may be some impact 
including reduction of natural light and increase perception of overlooking. However, any 
interference with the right to a private and family life and home arising from the scheme as a 
result of impact on residential amenity is considered necessary in a democratic society in the 
interests of the economic well-being of the city and wider area and is proportionate given the 
overall benefits of the scheme in terms of provision of housing and affordable housing. 
 
Any interference with property rights is in the public interest and in accordance with the Town 
and Country planning Act 1990 regime for controlling the development of land. This 
recommendation is based on the consideration of the proposal against adopted Development 
Plan policies, the application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant 
or any third party. 

14.0 Public sector equalities duty  
As set out in the Equality Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions must have 
“due regard” to the need to: 

a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act; 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

Page 41



 26

c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard in particular to the need to: 
 

a) removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of other persons who do not share it 

c) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 
 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is to have 
“regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits of this 
planning application the planning authority has had due regard to the matters set out in 
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

15.0 Financial issues 
The requirements to set out the financial benefits arising from a planning application is set 
out in s155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. This requires that local planning 
authorities include financial benefits in each report which is:- 
 

a) made by an officer or agent of the authority for the purposes of a non-delegated 
determination of an application for planning permission; and 

b) contains a recommendation as to how the authority should determine the application 
in accordance with section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

The information or financial benefits must include a list of local financial considerations or 
benefits of a development which officers consider are likely to be obtained by the authority if 
the development is carried out including their value if known and should include whether the 
officer considers these to be material or not material. 
Material considerations  

  On-site Affordable Housing 17 co-living units and 48 flats as affordable rent. 
  Sustainable Transport measures contribution £100,000.00 towards pedestrian and 

cycle improvements in the vicinity of the site 
  Contribution, in combination with other developments in the Water Lane Area, to the 

delivery of Strategic Flood Escape Route for Water Lane Area in a timely manner. 
Sum to be confirmed following options appraisal and technical design 

  £76,448.84 – towards provision of Equipped Children’s Play Space, and Informal 
Youth Facilities,  

  Provision of five car club vehicles with parking spaces and charging infrastructure 
  Provision of 6 electric hire cycles, parking and charging infrastructure 
  £187,256.00 for local GP surgeries expansion  
  £533,006.25 to Devon County Council Education towards the provision of primary 

school infrastructure  

Page 42



 27

  £25,250.00 towards Early Years education to ensure delivery of provision for 2-, 3- 
and 4-year-olds 

  Access control Improvements and additional tree planting in Piazza Terracina, 
£52,000.00 

  10 additional FTE jobs likely to be created in occupation phase  
 
This proposal includes floorspace that is Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) chargeable. 
Final CIL contributions from the development will be calculated at the point the decision is 
issued following completion of the S106 agreement and taking into account any qualifying 
exemptions and any indexation of the CIL rates. Given the need to complete a S106 Exeter 
City Council revised CIL Charging Schedule to be implemented 1st January 2024 will likely 
apply. CIL will be chargeable on out-of-centre retail (£125/sqm) and Co-Living/Build to Rent 
(£50sqm). Habitats Regulations contributions are taken from CIL for residential 
accommodation that is not CIL exempt. The CIL contribution is estimated as £787,500.  
 
The proposal will generate Council Tax and Business Rates in occupation phase. 

16.0 Planning assessment 
This is set out in the following order. 
 
1. Principle of development – loss of existing uses 
2. Principle of development – redevelopment of site for residential and commercial uses 
3. Flood risk & Surface water management 
4. Scale, design, layout, character and appearance 
5. Access and parking 
6. Impact on residential amenity 
7. Community balance  
8. Housing supply  
9. Affordable housing  
10. Impact on heritage assets 
11. Impact on Ecology, Trees and Biodiversity 
12. Sustainable construction and Energy conservation 
13. Pollution 
14. Economic impacts 
15. CIL and S106 contributions 
16. Development Plan, five-year housing land supply and presumption in favour of 

sustainable development 
17. Planning balance 
 
1. Principle of development – loss of existing uses. 

 
There is no planning policy objection to the loss of under-occupied out-of-centre retail 
provision and the commercial leisure currently on the site, which do not constitute 
valuable local facilities and services as defined in section 93 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. It is anticipated that the bowling operator would be likely to be able 
to relocate within the city. Planning consents that include provision for a bowling alley 
have been granted on other sites (Guildhall and Bus and Coach Station) previously. 

 

Page 43



 28

2. Principle of development – redevelopment of site for residential and commercial uses. 
 
The site is a ‘windfall’, that is to say it is an unallocated, brownfield development site 
in a highly accessible urban location. Residential development is strongly supported 
in national and local policy and follows the development hierarchy set out in Local 
Plan 1st Review policies AP1, AP2 and H1, which are the key tests against which new 
proposals will be judged.  

 
Bringing forward the redevelopment of brownfield sites to meet identified housing 
need as set out in Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 helps to protect other less 
sequentially preferable greenfield sites from development, conserve the natural 
environment and protect the landscape setting of the city. 

 
The provision of 239 one-, two- and three-bedroom flats addresses an identified 
housing need and, in line with national policy for Build-to-Rent development, 20% of 
these dwellings will be secured as affordable private rent housing. The co-living block 
would introduce a new residential type to this area of the city and as such is 
considered to contribute positively to the residential mix in the area. This is also a 
build-to-rent tenure in which 20% of units would be required to be let at affordable 
private rent. Whilst a broader mix of residential tenure types on site would be 
preferable, the critical mass of the scheme is important to the ongoing success of the 
scheme as a build to rent development, and to support the on-site facilities and 
management. As such, the proposals are considered to accord with the aims of 
policies H2 and H5 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review and CP5 of the Exeter Core 
Strategy and are not considered to result in an imbalance of any particular residential 
type in the wider area. Policy H5 supports specialist accommodation such as co-living 
in accessible locations. 

 
Of the Build-to-rent flats, 10% are sized to be capable of being constructed or 
adapted to meet wheelchair accessible M4(3) standard. Of the co-living units, 5% of 
the affordable units are designed to be M4(3) wheelchair accessible, and all the 
larger units are capable of being wheelchair accessible. As such, the development is 
considered to comply with the aims of policy H7 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review. 

 
Whilst the site is not within a ‘centre’ as identified in the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review, 
the Canal and Quayside location has been identified as a suitable location for retail 
and food and drink uses in policies S1 and KP6, and modest provision of such in this 
location is not in conflict with Core Strategy policy CP8. 

 
The Draft Exeter Plan carries no formal weight in decision making at this stage, 
however it is a material consideration and provides a material demonstration of the 
emerging spatial strategy. Draft Exeter Plan policy H1 identifies the need for 642 
homes per annum and policy H2 identifies Water Lane, including Haven Banks Retail 
Park, as a strategic brownfield development site for a mixture of uses, including 1600 
homes. The Draft Exeter Plan Water Lane allocation policy includes requirements for 
a housing mix built at optimum densities taking into account context and the Exeter 
Density Study. 

 
  

Page 44



 29

3. Flood Risk & Surface Water Management 
 

The site is in Flood Zone 3a, protected to a 1 in 100-year flood event level by recently 
upgraded flood defences. The implementation of the flood defences significantly 
lessens the risk of flooding, but cannot be relied upon when considering flood risk in 
planning considerations given the potential for failure or overtopping of the new flood 
defence scheme. 

  
Current site levels are between 7.3m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD) and 7.9m AOD. 
 
The site currently benefits form a dry escape route in a 1:100-year flood event. 
However, the future effects of climate change on flood risk mean that this will not be 
the case through the 100-year design life of the building and during that period an 
alternative safe access and egress route will need to be provided. 

  
The applicant has submitted a sequential site search that has not identified any 
alternative sites with lower flood risk that could accommodate the development. 
Having reviewed the site search officers consider it to be robust in its analysis. 

  
The Environment Agency has advised that the design flood level is 8.38m AOD, with 
a minimum resident finished floor level for flood resilience of 8.68m AOD. 

 
Residential development is classified in Planning Practice Guidance as a more 
vulnerable use and commercial (Class E) uses as less vulnerable. 

  
Given the less vulnerable use classification and the difficulty of delivering accessible 
attractive public realm where the site joins Haven Banks, it is considered appropriate 
to accept a lower floor level for the commercial units in Blocks A, B and C and for 
these to be subject to flood resilience measures.  Officers are satisfied with the level 
of risk/hazards given the balance of other material considerations.  

  
The residential use is classified as ‘more vulnerable’.  The NPPF guides that such 
development is only acceptable in areas of flood risk if the Sequential Test and 
Exception Tests are passed. This requires that the wider sustainability benefits 
outweigh the harm from risk of flooding and flood risk is not increased elsewhere. The 
regeneration of an underused brownfield site for residential development in a highly 
sustainable location and constructed to BREEAM Excellent standard is considered to 
outweigh the harm of the risk of flooding. The applicant’s Flood Risk Assessment has 
shown that the development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere and the 
Environment Agency is satisfied by that assessment. 
 
Residential uses have a floor level set at 8.68m AOD. Areas of the site linking Blocks 
B, C and D are raised to a flood risk resilient level. A flood warning and emergency 
evacuation plan for the development can be secured by planning condition.  
 
Due to the effects of climate change the risk of flooding is calculated to increase 
during the 100-year design life of the development, putting the site at greater risk of 
flooding and cutting off existing dry escape routes. The Environment Agency is 

Page 45



 30

satisfied that ECC is commissioning a study to look at detailed options for the 
provision of alternative safe access and egress from the south, to ensure safe access 
for the whole of the development’s design life. 
 
The site will be required to have a flood emergency plan (secured by condition). The 
proposed scheme comprises managed Build-to-rent accommodation with 
management presence on site, which is beneficial to support active flood emergency 
response. 
 
As such the development is considered to have passed the Sequential and Exception 
tests. 
 
The Environment Agency has withdrawn its objection subject to the recommendations 
of the Flood Risk Assessment being secured by condition and a contribution being 
secured to deliver the strategic flood escape route, or other agreed emergency 
planning solution that ECC considers acceptable, in a timely manner to ensure that 
the development is safe during the design lifetime of the development (100 years). 
 
The provision of a raised development platform, and the contribution towards a future 
strategic dry flood escape route are of benefit to the existing residential population in 
the Water Lane area as well as future residents in a flood event, which should be 
accorded significant weight in determining this application. 
 
Devon County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority has advised that the proposed 
surface water management measures are acceptable in principle. The details of the 
proposed scheme of surface water management can be secured by condition. 
 
On this basis the proposed development is considered to accord with the aims of 
Policy EN4 of the Exeter Plan 1st Review and Section 14 of the NPPF. 

 
4. Scale, design, layout, character, and appearance 
 

The application seeks to comprehensively redevelop the site, demolishing existing 
low rise commercial buildings and surface car parking to replace them with a 
residential-led mixed-use proposal with associated landscape and public realm.   

 
The project was presented to the Exeter Quality Design Partnership on two 
occasions, in April 2022 at pre-application stage and again in May 2023. Significant 
revisions were made to the scheme following those independent design review 
meetings and officer advice.  
 
Key constraints to the redevelopment of the site include neighbouring residential 
development, proximity to the Canal and Quayside heritage designations, electricity 
infrastructure and associated wayleaves, and flood risk 
 
Key opportunities are the potential to introduce residential development to meet the 
city’s housing needs in a sustainable and accessible location; to significantly improve 

Page 46



 31

the appearance of the site; to create new and improved sustainable transport routes 
and public realm; and to deliver development that integrates better with the Water 
Lane, Haven Banks area and Canal Basin areas. 
 
Layout 
 
The arrangement of routes and buildings creates a pedestrian loop through the site 
linking with Piazza Terracina and the foot/cycle link to the eastern boundary. A route 
between Haven Banks and Water Lane is also formalised through a well-lit and 
overlooked route. These routes will add vitality to the interior of the development and 
make the public space more viable and attractive. 
 
Active uses and frontages occur in the most important and prominent parts of the 
layout and the experience for those simply passing through or visiting the site is 
expected to be engaging and positive. The ‘way-leaves’ associated with Western 
Power infrastructure has meant that the relationship with the rear of the properties at 
the end of Diamond Lane cannot be fully resolved in terms of townscape.   
 
Block C has a long, cranked, plan form.  It would present a barrier to permeability if 
proposed in other circumstances, but here it wraps around the site boundary and 
therefore usefully divides public and private space.  There are considered to be no 
practical advantages gained by sub-division and permeability through the block at 
ground level as promoted by the Design Review Panel. 
 
Density 
 
The density is conventionally high and does not mirror that of the low-rise modern 
housing which forms part of the context of the site.  However, the over-riding planning 
objective is to make best (optimum) use of this brownfield land.  Core Strategy policy 
CP4 guides that residential development should achieve the highest appropriate 
density compatible with protection of heritage assets, local amenities, the character 
and quality of the local environment and the safety of the road network. Draft Exeter 
Plan policy H2 identifies Water Lane as a strategic brownfield development site for a 
mixture of uses, including 1600 homes. The Draft Exeter Plan allocation policy for 
Water Lane includes requirements for a housing mix built at optimum densities taking 
into account context and the Exeter Density Study. 
 
The Residential Design Guide SPD was adopted to support the delivery of the spatial 
strategy and strategic allocations in the Exeter Core Strategy, which were urban 
extensions on largely greenfield sites. The standards set out in that guidance are not 
all directly transferable to the type of development or the spatial strategy being 
brought forward by the emerging Exeter Plan, or the regeneration areas identified in 
the Core Strategy policy CP17 that include the City Centre and Grecian Quarter 
Regeneration Area, Canal and Quay Basin and Water Lane Regeneration Area, 
which are urban brownfield sites. As such it is considered that the guidance in the 
SPD should be given weight but not necessarily be applied rigidly in all respects. 
 

Page 47



 32

The draft Liveable Water Lane Supplementary Planning Document: Development 
Framework and Design Code includes this site.  Code L01 covers building density. 
Haven Banks is located in the central zone, which is identified as having an 
appropriate density of between 75-180 dwellings per hectare (dph) and a plot ratio of 
1.9. The proposed development has a density of 200 dph and a plot ratio of 1.68. 
Provided the protecting aims of policy CP4 are met through the detailed design, the 
density of development is not considered to be in conflict with that policy which seeks 
the highest appropriate density.  
 
In proposing higher densities, there is a clear design intent to avoid higher car parking 
and car movements. Cycle parking and pedestrian access is given priority in the 
layout over convenience of car parking. The strength and attractions of the local 
cycling and walking network offer good alternatives to vehicular transportation and 
make the prospect of higher densities/low parking development more acceptable. 
Servicing is, as far as is practicable, taken from Water Lane.  This is welcome in 
reducing conflict on Haven Banks. 
 
Height, scale and massing  
 
The massing of Block A has evolved, increasing by one storey, but reducing the 
footprint and the upper floor massing to the rear of Diamond Road.  The relationship 
between the public realm and the residential accommodation/private raised terrace 
and shared courtyard at the northern end with the retained tree is considered a 
significant improvement to the street scene. The commercial unit will provide activity 
to the street and turns the corner into the development.  
 
The proportions of height to width that Block A creates to Haven Road are less than 
the 1:1 maximum ratio that is suggested by the draft Liveable Water Lane SPD. The 
building heights prescribed by the draft Code suggest a storey lower in this location, 
but the gateway role and the ability to make optimum use of this brownfield site are 
considered to merit this additional height. 
 
Block B lines the rear of the Activity Centre and has been revised during negotiations 
to create a satisfactory relationship to it and with The Coolings in height and massing, 
and through preservation of privacy by detailed window design. The height of this 
building will however overshadow the lower parts of the solar array on the Climbing 
Centre and result in a loss of up to 30% of generation taken overall. The applicant is 
in ongoing discussion with the City Council regarding compensatory measures. 
Block C is five storeys in its main part, with additional accommodation as ‘lanterns’ 
set back at roof level as a partial 6th floor.  The principal relationship is with 
Chandlers Walk, a development to the south/south-east.  The main body of the block 
is set back from the shared boundary and only approaches it at a lower level to the 
north-east. 
 
Block C, together with Block D, enclose the central street and again the height to 
width proportions of this space comply with the 1:1 ratio and are satisfactory as an 
urban design principle. 
 

Page 48



 33

Block D is five storeys, with the uppermost storey ‘set back’ on all elevations.  The 
building is divided in two by a lower entrance and communal area which links the two 
main elements of accommodation and produces a ‘gap’ in the form down to first floor 
level.  The break in form created by the gap reduces the impact on Stream Court 
properties. 
 
Block D is visible and will form the ‘stop vista’ at the end of Diamond Road.  The 
design of that element has been amended to satisfactorily enclose that space. 
 
Code L03 of the Draft Liveable Water Lane SPD sets requirements relating to 
building heights.  For this site it identifies either up to four stories at the boundary or 
up to six storeys more centrally. Code L08 sets height and massing for the central 
zone which includes Haven Banks and states that ‘Occasional taller massing must be 
slender and located in key locations’. As such, the Draft SPD is considered to support 
the four storey Block B, the five storey slender forms of proposed Blocks A and D and 
Block C rising to six storeys in parts. The Draft SPD also calls for the steps up from 
the existing buildings to new development to be no more than two storeys.  The initial 
fabric of the proposed buildings presenting towards neighbours adhere to this. Whilst 
Blocks A, C and D do, they then rise to a greater height as they retreat further into the 
site away from boundary conditions.  
 
The applicant’s Landscape and Townscape Visual Impact Analysis has been useful in 
discussing and agreeing some important changes to the roofscape of Block C (which 
will appear in the background of the electricity building when viewed form Colleton 
Crescent in views towards Dartmoor). Rooftop plant has also been relocated to be 
enclosed at a lower building level.  The viewpoint from Colleton Crescent has been 
re-assessed and is now considered by Historic England to be acceptable.  We concur 
with that position. 
 
The ‘incidental’ vista of the Cathedral from Chamberlain Road, which would be 
obscured, is not a designed, strategic, view and its protection would set a precedent 
that would blight this and other regeneration sites if strictly and consistently adopted 
as a development management principle. 
 
Amenity 
 
The number of apartments with external balconies has been increased as an 
outcome of negotiations, but there are still a number of smaller single-bedroom units 
that only have ‘Juliet’ balconies protecting inward-opening French windows.  These 
are mainly in Block A, which provides shared external spaces of reasonable quality at 
ground level, and the second and third floors of Block B.  There is no conventional 
shared external amenity space associated with Block B, but it is set within the heart of 
the development with opportunities for sitting out in the new public realm spaces. 
The accommodation in Block C is a ‘Build to rent’ and includes high-quality shared 
communal space at rooftop and ground floor levels and other types of amenity 
provided internally that residents will benefit from.  That some of these one-
bedroomed apartments do not possess their own external balcony is therefore 
considered less critical.  
 

Page 49



 34

The co-living provided in Block D is in accordance with the draft GLA Guidance and 
the internal organisation of this has also been much improved as a consequence of 
revisions. The Exeter Core Strategy includes policy CP5 regarding supply of housing 
to meet the needs of all members of the community, including the provision of 
specialist housing as part of mixed communities. Draft Exeter Plan Policy H5 
identifies support for co-living and sets an aim of equivalence with Nationally 
Described Space Standards on a disaggregated basis. The majority of the 184 co-
living private rooms are 20 square metres internally, with three at 17sqm and fourteen 
at 25sqm. All contain living, sleeping, basic cooking facilities and a bathroom and the 
provision of kitchen/diners and lounges on each part floor (serving no more than 27 
bedrooms each) is considered good practice in creating communal use and 
ownership of such spaces. Uppermost and ground floor units have private external 
space. Communal internal and external spaces at uppermost floor level, first floor and 
ground floor are considered to be well arranged to encourage communal living and 
social interaction.  
 
Landscape 
  
The landscape proposals for the new public realm are well-conceived and integrate 
informal provision for children’s play equipment as part of the public realm design. 
The scheme contains 105 two- and three-bedroom flats which are considered to be 
family dwellings for the purposes of open space policies. In addition to the on-site 
play space suitable for young children, the scheme will therefore be required to 
contribute to the provision of improvements to off-site children’s play, as well as youth 
provision in accordance with Exeter Local Plan 1st Review policies DG5 and L4, the 
Public Open Space SPD and Implementing Open Space Requirements SPG. 
Paragraph 134 of the NPPF guides that significant weight should be given to 
development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on 
design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning 
documents which use visual tools such as design guides and codes; and/or designs 
which promote high levels of sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more 
generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their 
surroundings. 
 
The proposals, for the reasons given above, are considered to accord with the aims 
of Exeter Local Plan 1st Review policies DG1, DG3, DG7 and H5, and the aims of 
NPPF Section 12, through the creation of high quality and sustainable buildings in a 
layout that secures and enhances the permeability of the site through the creation of 
well landscaped and safe routes. As such the design should be afforded significant 
positive weight in any decision on this application. 

 
5. Access and parking 

 
The development will result in the loss of a privately owned car park of 220 spaces 
associated with the current retail park, and reprovision of 32 spaces for the use of the 
development.  
 
The privately owned car park is underutilised by the retail park, as the retail park is 
currently underoccupied with the last retail tenants having relocated.  The spaces are 

Page 50



 35

not protected for general public use, nor is the car park protected by any planning 
policy. If the retail park was fully occupied, it would be typical that parking restrictions 
to support the retailers would be in force, and in any case capacity for public use 
would be reduced. The area is accessible by walking, cycling and public transport 
including Park and Ride and is supported by alternative car parks. It is not considered 
that the loss of the car park will materially affect the accessibility of the Canal Basin 
and Quay area or can be resisted for any planning policy reason. 
 
The development is in a highly sustainable location, with local services and public 
transport all in close proximity. The Local Centre of St Thomas and the City Centre 
are both within easy reach. As such, the location accords strongly with the aims of 
policy T1 and T2 and with the locational aims of policy H5 of the Exeter Local Plan 
1st Review.  This underscores the need to make optimum use of the development 
site in accordance with policy as discussed above. 
 
The development proposes to provide 32 parking spaces on site, accessed from 
Water Lane.  This would include five car club spaces and two disabled spaces. 
Exeter Local Plan 1st Review policy T10 sets out maximum car parking standards 
and the NPPF at paragraph 108 guides that maximum standards should only be set 
where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are necessary for 
managing the local road network or optimising the density of development in city and 
town centres and other locations that are well served by local transport. As such, the 
limitation of parking levels through maximum parking standards and the 
encouragement of low car development, supported by good sustainable transport 
provision, are considered an appropriate response on this site. Except for parts of 
Chandlers Walk the areas of wider public highway surrounding the site are the 
subject of on street parking controls, including restriction residents parking by permit. 
The development should be excluded from eligibility for residents parking permits to 
help ensure that it operates on a low car ownership basis, as proposed.  This is in the 
interests of sustainable travel and the protection of air quality, and will restrict further 
pressure on the limited on-street parking in the area. Necessary variations of Traffic 
Orders in the area can be secured as part of a planning consent at the applicants 
expense. Exclusion of the development from eligibility for residents parking permits 
would be a matter for DCC, however this can be added as an informative and can 
also be included with a Travel Plan or site management plan.  
 
Good provision both in quantum and location is made for resident’s cycle parking. 
Cycle parking exceeds the levels required by the Sustainable Transport SPD, 
providing 1:1 cycle parking for the co-living units. Cycle stores are integrated into 
buildings and located at building entrances, with integrated parking for cargo cycles at 
the rear of Block B. The development is further supported by an electric cycle hire 
station and provision for charging of scooters and a Sustainable Transport Plan which 
can be secured by a legal agreement attached to any permission.  The inclusion of an 
on-site management office and management presence will support active 
implementation of the Travel Plan. As such, the development accords with paragraph 
113 of the NPPF. 
 
The development includes improvements to the permeability of the site by 
pedestrians and cycles, both in routes and the attractiveness and safety of those 

Page 51



 36

routes. The existing route through the car park in the underoccupied retail park 
between Haven Banks and Water Lane will be improved to become a well 
overlooked, well-lit and landscaped route that will be attractive and feel safer at night. 
A new pedestrian and cycle link, in a circuit behind the climbing centre from Haven 
Road to the dedicated pedestrian and cycle link on the eastern boundary of the site, 
can be secured to be open to the public as part of a legal agreement attached to any 
consent. Both the new link and the existing cycle and pedestrian route will then 
benefit from good landscaping and natural surveillance. The benefit of a link from the 
site to Diamond Road to enable cycle and pedestrian movement through the site and 
allow pedestrians and cycles to further avoid Haven Banks has to be balanced 
against the ease of delivery of that link and the impact on residents in Diamond Road, 
and this has not been included.  
 
The proposals are considered to strongly accord with the aims of Exeter Local Plan 
1st Review policy T3, Core Strategy policy CP9 and the aims set out in section 9 of 
the NPPF. 
 
We note the advice of DCC as Highway authority and agree that the development is 
not considered to give rise to any unacceptable impact on highway safety and the 
residual cumulative impacts on the road network are not severe.  Hence, as guided 
by paragraph 111 of the NPPF, it is not considered that there are grounds for refusal 
of the application for highways reasons. 
 
The layout of the development and provisions for car and cycle parking and provision 
for club cars and cycles are considered to be a good response to the context of the 
site and to accord with aims of the Development Plan and other local advice 
discussed above and to accord with the aims of paragraphs 110 and 112 of the 
NPPF. 

 
6. Impact on existing residential amenity 
 
 Daylight and Sunlight 
  

The proposed development will result in a reduction in direct sunlight and diffuse light 
levels to some neighbouring properties. This is documented in the applicant’s 
Sunlight and Daylight analysis. Currently the low level of buildings and open car park 
areas mean that there is very little over-shadowing of neighbouring dwellings from the 
site.  
 
Local Plan policy supplemented by the Residential Design Guide SPD guides that 
reference should be had to British Standards and Buildings Research Establishment 
(BRE) good practice guidance in assessing quality of daylight. 
 
Vertical Sky Component (VSC) is a measure of diffuse light level to buildings. The 
BRE guidance is that if windows experience a VSC of less than 27%, and experience 
a reduction of greater than 20% of the level without the proposed development then 
the reduction will be a noticeable.  In most neighbouring dwellings any reduction in 
light levels to habitable rooms will be less than noticeable levels. However, a number 

Page 52



 37

of individual rooms of residential properties in Greenford Villas, Water Lane, 
Waterside, Chandlers Walk, Maritime Court, Diamond Road, Stream Court and The 
Coolings will experience a reduction in light levels that will be noticeable. In the 
majority where the affect is noticeable, the effect is minor adverse.  In the case of two 
windows at separate properties, the affect is moderately adverse. These are harms 
that will be experienced by occupiers. Direct lighting of rooms has also been 
considered where BRE guidance is that a reduction of 20% will be noticeable, and 
again there are some windows in these properties where the reduction will be 
noticeable, and it is concluded that there will minor adverse impact will occur to some 
habitable rooms, and moderate impacts to properties in Chandler Court and Water 
lane, with significant impact to two windows in properties in Water Lane that are 
bedroom windows in flats where the living spaces are dual aspect and retain target 
levels of direct light. It is considered that the overall levels of light in the affected 
dwellings are not reduced to such a low level as to render living conditions in those 
dwellings unacceptable. These harms should therefore be weighed in the planning 
balance when determining this application. 
 
In respect of direct sun lighting of external spaces, the BRE guidance recommends 
that for the garden of an existing property to appear adequately sunlit throughout the 
year, at least half of a garden should receive at least two hours of sunlight on 21st 
March. If as a result of a new development an existing garden does not meet this 
recommendation, and the area which can receive two hours of sun on 21st March is 
less than 0.8 times its former value, then the loss of sunlight is likely to be noticeable. 
Most properties on Maritime Court, Chandlers Walk and Stream Court, many of which 
are already below the 50% sunlit for 2-hour target, will not be impacted or will be 
impacted below the 20% reduction threshold. However, at number 14 Maritime Court, 
already low levels of sunlight in the northeast-facing garden will be reduced by half; 
and at 11-14 Stream Court, the percentage of each garden receiving 2 hours of 
sunlight will be reduced to close to the 50% target level. 
 
In this respect the proposed development is contrary to the aims of policy DG4 of the 
Exeter Plan 1st Review and this should be given weight in decision making. 
  
Outlook and privacy  
 
The supporting text to Exeter Plans1st Review Policy DG4 guides that an acceptable 
degree of privacy allowing people to feel at ease in their own homes can be achieved 
by providing a minimum distance of 22 metres between [windows of] habitable rooms 
or by imaginative design. The Residential Design Guide SPD repeats this advice but, 
further guides that where buildings of different heights back on to each other the 
privacy distances will need to be increased, also that where the angle of properties 
backing on to each other is 45 degrees or more the separation distance can be 
reduced to 15 metres between habitable room windows. In terms of outlook the SPD 
guides windows of habitable rooms should not face high blanks walls, and that 
developers should produce to demonstrate that dwellings have sufficient daylight and 
Policy DG4 guides that residential development should ensure a quality of amenity 
which allows residents to feel at ease in their homes and gardens.  
 

Page 53



 38

The Residential Design Guide SPD was adopted to support the delivery of the spatial 
strategy and strategic allocations in the Exeter Core Strategy, which were urban 
extensions on largely greenfield sites. The standards set out in that guidance are not 
all directly transferable to the type of development or the spatial strategy being 
brought forward by the emerging Exeter Plan, or the regeneration areas identified in 
the Core Strategy policy CP17 that include the City Centre and Grecian Quarter 
Regeneration Area, Canal and Quay Basin and Water Lane Regeneration Area, 
which are urban brownfield sites. As such it is considered that the guidance in the 
SPD should be applied flexibly in some aspects. 
 
Block A has been amended since the application was first submitted to reduce the 
footprint and increase the height. The design presents two elevations onto active 
frontages and steps down towards the rear of dwellings on Diamond Road. At its 
closest point, it steps down to single storey with a pitch roof. The building steps up to 
three storey with a blank triple gable wall 18.8 metres from the two storey rear wings 
of the properties on Diamond Road, and steps up to its full five storeys with a 
separation of 26m.  
 
Block D is split to ground floor level centrally to reduce the impact on Stream Court 
and to facilitate penetration of natural light to the rear of those properties. Either side 
of that central break the rear projections of the building step down towards the 
boundary, being two storey at their closest point to the boundary and separated from 
the boundary by a distance of 5 metres. The closest point building-to-building is 18 
metres, with separation generally being between 22 and 29 metres and window-to-
window separation being no less than 21 metres. Conditions to prevent new openings 
and obscure-glaze windows in the development can be attached to any consent. 
Existing tree planting on the boundary is proposed to be retained.  In the event that 
those trees fail, replacement planting would be required by condition. 
 
The main range of Block C, which is five storeys with a recessed part 6th storey 
stands 41m from dwellings in Chandlers Court. Rear projections of the building 
towards Chandlers Court step down towards the boundary, being two storey at their 
closest point to the boundary where the distance of separation is 14 metres. Windows 
are arranged in location and orientation not to position less than 21 metres window-
to-window distance between Block C and Chandlers Court or Maritime Court. Block C 
face the rear of Maritime Court across the public realm of the existing foot and cycle 
path link.  
 
Block B has been laid out internally to avoid intervisibility and privacy issues with the 
adjacent The Coolings residential building, whilst providing an active elevation onto 
the outdoor playspace proposed at the rear of The Coolings and enclosed by Blocks 
B and C. 
  
The proposed arrangement of buildings is not considered to give rise to a degree of 
overlooking, loss of in building privacy or overbearing impact that is not acceptable in 
an urban setting. In this respect, the proposed development accords with the aims of 
policy DG4 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review and this should be given weight in 
decision making. 
 

Page 54



 39

Noise 
 
Whilst outside an established centre, the Canal Basin area is identified as a suitable 
location for retail and food and drink supporting the leisure and tourism function of the 
area by policy S5 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review.  
 
The potential for noise from the development to affect neighbouring occupiers has 
been assessed. A noise limiting condition, a condition limiting the hours of use of 
outdoor seating areas associated with commercial units and another requiring details 
of extraction equipment associated with any commercial kitchens are considered to 
adequately protect the amenity of adjoining occupiers and to provide a basis for 
enforcement if such nuisance does arise. As such, the proposals are considered to 
accord with the aims of Exeter Local Plan 1st Review policy EN5. 

 
7. Community balance  

 
The area surrounding the site contains leisure and commercial uses, however 
residential uses dominate the area south of Haven Banks in a mix of dwellings and 
flats. Residential development around the site is predominantly privately owned or 
rented, with some Housing Association units. 
 
The proposed development consists of 184 beds of co-living accommodation and 239 
Build-to-rent flats, with the flats comprising 134 one-bed flats, 79 two-bed and 26 
three-bed. In accordance with nationally set policy, 20% of all of these units would be 
affordable rent. 
 
Applications for Build to rent and co-living development have to date been focussed 
in and around the north of the city centre. This is the first application for co-living 
accommodation west of the River Exe. 
 
Policy H5 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review guides that the conversion to or 
construction of special needs housing, bedsits, houses in multiple occupation and 
student housing will be permitted provided that the criteria set out in that policy are 
met. These criteria include that the development should not cause an over 
concentration of the use in any one area of the city that would change the character 
of the neighbourhood. 
 
Code WO6 of the Draft Liveable Water Lane SPD guides that housing typologies 
dedicated to a narrow demographic such as…co-living must not dominate the area.  
 
The development will add further flats to the local residential mix of flats and houses, 
and will broaden the residential mix through the introduction of co-living to a part of 
the city where to date no other such accommodation has been permitted. 
 
The proposed development is not considered to result in an over concentration of a 
particular residential use type in the area and as such is considered to accord with 
the aims of policy H5 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review. 

 

Page 55



 40

8. Housing supply  
  

The Council is currently able to identify a supply of four years and four months for the 
period commencing 1 April 2023 against the five-year housing land requirement. The 
supply of deliverable homes falls short of the five-year housing requirement by 457 
homes. 
 
As the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, though 
the shortfall is modest, the ‘tilted balance’ in favour of development as set out in the 
NPPF is therefore engaged when considering the application. 
 
The development would provide 184 units of co-living accommodation and 239 flats 
which would make a substantial contribution towards meeting the housing shortfall, 
and should be afforded substantial positive weight in the planning balance.  

  
9. Affordable housing  

 
The applicant has offered 20% of the Build-to-rent flats and the co-living units as 
affordable housing which can be secured through a S106 agreement. This is in 
accordance with the national planning policy requirement which has precedence over 
Local Plan policy for these residential tenure types. Of the affordable dwellings, 5% 
will be disabled accessible standard. As such, the proposals meet the requirements 
of Exeter Core Strategy policy CP7, Exeter Local Plan 1st Review policy H7 and the 
Affordable Housing SPD. Affordable housing will be secured by S106 legal 
agreement attached to any consent. 
 

10. Impact on heritage assets 
  

Current development on the site makes a negative contribution to the setting of the 
Riverside Conservation Area and the setting of the Locally Listed Electricity 
Generating Building. There is no objection to the demolition and no in-principle 
objection to redevelopment on heritage grounds. 
 
The site is outside the designated Area of Archaeological Importance established by 
policy C5 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review. However, the current use of the site 
has precluded pre-application intrusive evaluation; this must be addressed as the site 
comes forward for redevelopment and these investigations can be secured by 
condition requiring a Written Scheme of Investigation to be agreed and undertaken.  
 
The proposed development is considered to respect the character of the area and 
incorporate uses that support the existing high quality historic environment. It 
provides a permeable, attractive and safe public realm that adds to the interest of the 
area and an environment that encourages social interaction to create vibrancy. As 
such, the proposals are considered to enhance the function of the historic Canal 
Basin area and to accord with the aims of policy CP17 of the Exeter Core Strategy. 
 
The proposed height and massing of the submitted scheme has the potential to affect 
numerous heritage assets. The scheme has been reduced in scale and impact in 

Page 56



 41

response to those concerns, most notably the effect upon the setting of the Grade II* 
Listed Colleton Crescent by affecting views toward Dartmoor, the Canal Basin and 
the Quay. The revisions have reduced the impact of the scheme to acceptable levels, 
and whilst there will be some change to the context of the heritage assets, that 
change does not equate to significant harm.  
 
As such the proposals are considered to accord with aims of policies C1 and C3 of 
the Exeter Local Plan 1st Review, policy CP4 of the Exeter Core strategy, and 
paragraphs 130, 197(c) and 206 of the NPPF. 
 

11. Impact on Ecology, Trees and Biodiversity 
 
The site currently offers low biodiversity value, but does contain a variety of mainly 
early mature and mature trees that are peripheral to the site and also within the car 
park setting. These trees are protected by a Tree Preservation Order which means 
that the consent of the Local Planning Authority is required for works to the trees and 
felling. The trees on the Haven Banks and Water Lane frontages in particular make a 
positive contribution to the amenity of the public realm.  These are not ancient or 
veteran trees. The position of the trees within the car park would significantly restrict 
the development of the site if they were required to be retained.  Management of the 
trees has not been to a high standard. They are subject of a Tree Preservation Order 
due to their amenity contribution and to protect them from poor management. 
 
The proposed development will result in the loss of 16 trees within the site. Of these 
trees, four London Plane trees that are category ‘B’ trees of moderate quality and 
value are located directly within the site and within the proposed building footprint. Of 
the seven trees (Norway Maple, Honey Locust and Hawthorn) proposed to be 
removed from the Haven Banks frontage, six are Category C trees of low quality and 
value and one category U. The layout of the proposed development has been 
amended to retain the largest of the Norway Maple trees in that location, which is 
category C. Three Norway Maple that are Category C are proposed to be removed to 
allow servicing access point of Block D at Water Lane, and a Category C Norway is 
proposed to be removed at the pedestrian access at the rear of The Coolings. The 
other proposed removed tree is a Category C Cotoneaster at the rear of 9 Diamond 
Road. 
 
Nine trees on the boundary with the residential properties on Stream Court and 
Diamond Road are proposed to be retained, will have increased areas of soft 
landscaping and will be subject of protective fencing and working practices.  There is 
nevertheless the potential that these trees will suffer during construction and should 
any trees become damaged they will be replaced. 
 
The layout of the site has been amended to reduce the footprint of Block A and retain 
a prominent Norway Maple tree on the Haven Banks Road Frontage that makes a 
significant contribution to the amenity of the area. Trees on the boundary with Stream 
Court are now proposed to be retained, but can be secured by condition to be 
replanted if they fail, in the same way as new landscape planting. The developer has 
agreed to plant a tree in Piazza Terracina on the Haven Banks frontage where a 
previous tree has failed. 

Page 57



 42

 
The proposed landscaping scheme for the site includes new tree planting including 
locations for up to 26 trees.  This includes trees positioned in locations in the new 
public realm and private spaces that will give them good opportunity to grow to 
substantial height and spread. This will give a strong landscape structure to the site, 
with a broad range of tree species, as well as shrubs, low planting and grassed 
areas. New trees are introduced on the boundary with Chandlers Court and within the 
private amenity space to block C that will provide a landscaping screen to the site 
boundary where currently there is none. New tree planting is also proposed to the 
central public circulation spaces and in the Water Lane frontage. Tree planting will 
include fruit trees, birch trees and London Plane. Final details of all landscaping can 
be secured by condition attached to any consent. 
 
The national requirement for development to deliver a 10% Biodiversity Net gain has 
been delayed, to be implemented in 2024. Nevertheless, the proposed development 
includes biodiversity enhancement measures that would result in a 24.73% 
biodiversity net gain. These measures, including the integration of nesting 
opportunities in buildings as requested by the RSPB in their response, can be 
secured by condition. 
 
An Appropriate Assessment required under the Habitats Regulations concluded that 
whilst the development has the potential to have a significant effect on the Exe 
Estuary Special Protection Area, and an adverse impact on the achievement of the 
conservation objectives for the site, the adverse impacts of increased visitor pressure 
arising from the development can be mitigated by a contribution to the South East 
Devon European Sites Mitigation Strategy. These can be taken form CIL payments 
and where no CIL is liable (for example affordable dwellings) the contributions would 
be secured separately and can be included within an S106 agreement. 

 
The loss of existing trees is a harm which is balanced by the additional tree planting, 
landscaping, and biodiversity enhancement of the site. For the reasons set out above, 
the proposed development is considered to accord with the aims of Exeter Local Plan 
policy DG1 and the objectives of Section 15 of the NPPF respecting nature 
conservation. 

 
12. Sustainable Construction and Energy Conservation 

 
The proposed development includes Air Source Heat Pumps and 56kW of solar 
photovoltaic panels. The development relies on electrical power and no fossil fuel use 
on site is proposed. Through these measures and passive design, energy efficient 
measures incorporating design features such as energy efficient lighting, submetering 
of relevant areas, upgrading of ‘U’ values and occupancy sensing in relative areas, 
the applicant has estimated the design will allow for a 53.95% carbon reduction from 
a base Part L 2021 compliance build. BREEAM Excellent standard is required by the 
Core Strategy for the non-residential elements of the development, and this can be 
secured by condition. A such the prosed development is considered to accord with 
the aims of policy CP15 of the Exeter Core Strategy. 
 
The water heating is electrical, by air source heat pump, and the site can be secured 

Page 58



 43

to be able to connect to a future District Heat Network at the site boundary in 
accordance with Core Strategy policy CP13 requirement and NPPF paragraph 157. 
 
Sustainable waste strategies built around a hierarchy, cascading from waste 
minimisation to reuse and recycling before allowing removal to landfill, will be secured 
by a condition for a Waste Audit Statement, in accordance with Devon Waste Plan 
policy W4. 
 

13. Pollution 
 

The site is identified as likely to be the subject of ground contamination given its 
previous uses. Currently the site is hard-surfaced or covered by buildings. The 
proposed residential uses as flats and co-living include areas of managed green 
communal spaces, but not private gardens or allotments. 
 
Exeter Local Plan 1st Review policy EN2 seeks to protect future occupiers and 
neighbours of a development from risk to health through exposure to contamination. 
The site is identified as likely to be the subject of ground contamination, however 
there is no indication in the submitted assessment or other records that the site 
cannot be remediated to ensure future occupiers and neighbours are not exposed to 
unacceptable contamination risk. The responsibility for securing a safe development 
rests with the developer and landowner. Both the Environment Agency and ECC 
Environmental Health are satisfied that the proposed development can be permitted 
subject to a condition requiring further ground investigation and the agreement of a 
ground contamination remediation plan prior to the construction of buildings, and 
verification that any remedial measures that are required have been carried out prior 
to occupation.  As such the development is considered to comply with the aims of 
policy EN2 and paragraph 185 of the NPPF. 
 
Alphington Road is subject to air quality issues related to traffic and is part of the 
designated Air Quality Management Area.  The proposed development, which is 
sustainably located near services, incorporates reduced car parking standards, and is 
supported by sustainable transport measures.  It would also result in slightly fewer 
vehicle movements in the a.m. peak hour and substantially fewer movements in the 
p.m. peak hour. As such, the development would have a lower impact on air quality 
than the current use and is not contrary to policy EN3 of the Exeter Local Plan 1st 
Review and would contribute to the improvement of air quality as sought by policy 
CP11 of the Exeter Core Strategy and paragraph 186 of the NPPF. 
 

14. Economic impacts  
 
Core Strategy Objective 4 and Exeter Local Plan 1st Review policy S1 seek the 
enhancement of the Quay and Canal area as a centre for tourism facilities. The 
proposed development will provide 516 sqm of additional commercial floorspace as 
five small units grouped in an attractive new place on Haven Road, close to Piazza 
Terracina and the Canal Basin. It is considered that the development will enhance 
and extend the commercial offer (in terms of unit numbers and geographic spread) in 
the Quay and Canal area without impacting unacceptably on the Heritage Assets. 

Page 59



 44

The commercial units will also provide employment opportunities and will serve the 
residents of the area, as well as visitors. 
 
Redevelopment will involve the loss of existing, currently under-used, large-format 
retail. However, it is noted that former tenants have relocated elsewhere in the city, 
with The Range and Matalan both relocating close by on Alphington Road. It is also 
noted that there are a number of larger-format retail voids in sequentially preferable 
locations, including the city centre. It is anticipated that the bowling centre will be able 
to relocate within the city and it is noted that planning consents that include bowling 
have been granted previously in the city centre. 
 
The development will provide economic benefits in the construction phase through 
direct employment, through the construction and professional services supply chain, 
and the follow-on economic benefit to the local economy. 
 
The development of these additional residential units, including affordable housing, 
will help support the labour supply in the local economy. 
 

15. CIL and S106 contributions 
 
The Council is currently of the view that the NHS ICB request for a contribution 
towards expansion of local GP Services is justified.  However, the NHS Foundation 
Trust request for a contribution for acute service provision is not, this is based on a 
view that, among other matters, insufficient information has been provided of how this 
arises as new demand, what such contributions would be spent on, and whether such 
contributions meet the ‘tests’ for planning obligations specified in Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulation 122(2) and NPPF 2023 section 57.  
 
The following matters are considered necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms, to be directly related to the development, and fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development meeting the tests set out in Regulation 
122.   
 

  A contribution of £100,000.00 towards pedestrian and cycle improvements in 
the vicinity of the site 

  On-site affordable housing of 20% of units for Build-to-rent development 
  A contribution, in combination with other developments in the Water Lane 

Area, to the delivery of a Strategic Flood Escape Route for the Water Lane 
Area in a timely manner. Sum to be confirmed following options appraisal and 
technical design 

  £76,448.84 towards the provision of Equipped Children’s Play Space and 
Informal Youth Facilities,  

  Provision of five car club vehicles with parking spaces and charging 
infrastructure 

  Provision of 6 electric hire cycles, parking and charging infrastructure 
  Travel Plan for residents, including provision of an initial period car club 

membership for residents 
  £187,256.00 for local GP surgeries expansion  

Page 60



 45

  £533,006.25 to Devon County Council Education towards the provision of 
primary school infrastructure  

  £25,250.00 towards Early Years education to ensure delivery of provision for 
2-, 3- and 4-year-olds 

  Access control improvements and additional tree planting in Piazza Terracina, 
£52,000.00 

  Traffic Orders 
  A Management Plan (co-living) 
  Pedestrian rights of way though the development 
  Habitats Mitigation for residential where CIL is not payable. 

 
The proposal includes floorspace that is Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
chargeable. Final CIL contributions from the development will be calculated when the 
decision is issued, following completion of the S106 agreement and taking into 
account any qualifying exemptions and any indexation of the CIL rates. Given the 
need to complete a S106, Exeter City Council’s revised CIL Charging Schedule to be 
implemented 1st January 2024 will likely apply. CIL will be chargeable on out-of-
centre retail (£125/sqm) and co-living/Build-to-rent (£50sqm). Habitats Regulations 
contributions are taken from CIL for residential accommodation that is not CIL 
exempt. The CIL contribution is estimated as £787,500. 

 
16. Development Plan, five-year housing land supply and presumption in favour of 

sustainable development 
 
NPPF paragraph 11 states that plans and decisions should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. For decision-taking, this means c) approving 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 
delay.  

  
The proposal, subject to the imposition of conditions, is considered to accord with the 
Development Plan as a whole.  

  
The Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, therefore 
the ‘tilted balance’ in favour of granting consent as set out in the NPPF has to be 
applied when determining the application. 

  
17. Planning Balance 

 
The benefits of development are considered to include: 
• Regeneration of a sustainable brownfield site that is currently underused, out-

of-centre, retail and leisure 
• Provision of 184 units of co-living accommodation and 239 flats, 20% of which 

will be affordable private rent 
• Provision of 5 commercial units, site management and gym, generating vitality 

and economic activity 
• Creation of an attractive network of public pedestrian and cycle routes through 

the site  

Page 61



 46

• Regeneration of an unattractive site that negatively impacts on the setting of 
the Riverside Conservation Area  

• Provision of flood resilient refuge to the wider area and contribution towards a 
flood escape route that will benefit this development but also the existing 
resident population. 

 
Identified harms include: 
• Development in an area subject of flood risk 
• Loss of protected trees 
• Reduction in natural light to neighbouring dwellings 
• Loss of light to solar photo voltaic panels on neighbouring buildings. 

 

17.0 Conclusion 
At present the Council cannot demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, therefore the tilted 
balance as set out in paragraph 11d) of the NPPF (2023) applies. This means that the 
application should be granted permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in 
the NPPF and the Development Plan taken as a whole.  
 
By providing residential accommodation as part of the mixed-use regeneration of a 
previously developed but underused site in a highly sustainable location, it is considered that 
the proposal clearly and demonstrably outweighs all the identified harms. As such, this 
application is recommended for approval in line with NPPF paragraph 11 d). 

18.0 Recommendation  
 

a) DELEGATE TO THE SERVICE LEAD (CITY DEVELOPMENT) TO GRANT 
PERMISSION  SUBJECT TO THE COMPLETION OF A LEGAL AGREEMENT 
UNDER SECTION 106 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (AS 
AMENDED) TO SECURE THE FOLLOWING: 

 
  Sustainable Transport measures contribution £100,000.00 towards pedestrian 

and cycle improvements in the vicinity of the site. 
  On-site Affordable Housing @20% for Build to Rent 
  Contribution, in combination with other developments in the Water Lane Area, to 

the delivery of Strategic Flood Escape Route for Water Lane Area in a timely 
manner. Sum to be confirmed following options appraisal and technical design. 

  £76,448.84 – towards provision of Equipped Children’s Play Space, and Informal 
Youth Facilities,  

  Provision of five car club vehicles with parking spaces and charging infrastructure. 
  Provision of 6 electric hire cycles, parking and charging infrastructure. 
  Travel Plan for residents, including provision of initial period car club membership 

to residents.  
  £243,983.00 (£187,255.95?) for GP surgeries expansion  
  £533,006.25 to Devon County Council Education towards the provision of primary 

school infrastructure  

Page 62



 47

  £25,250.00 towards Early Years education to ensure delivery of provision for 2-, 
3- and 4-year-olds 

  Access control Improvements and additional tree planting in Piazza Terracina, 
£52,000.00 

  Traffic Orders 
  Management Plan (co-living) 
  Securing pedestrian rights of way though development 
  Habitats Mitigation for CIL exempt residential development. 

 
  
All S106 contributions should be index linked from the date of resolution. 
 
And the following conditions (and their reasons) the wording of which may be varied:  

 
Conditions 
 
1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
 
Reason:  To ensure compliance with sections 91 and 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
2) The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in strict 
accordance with the submitted details received by the Local Planning Authority on 14 June 
2023 (including drawings numbers listed below) as modified by other conditions of this 
consent. 
 
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 1 HREXE-PWA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0300-G3 
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 2 HREXE-PWA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0301-G3 
Proposed Site Sections Sheet 3 HREXE-PWA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0302-G3 
Proposed Street Elevations - Sheet 1 HREXE-PWA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0201-G3 
Proposed Street Elevations - Sheet 2 HREXE-PWA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0202-G3 
Proposed Street Elevations - Sheet 3 HREXE-PWA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0203-G3 
Proposed Street Elevations - Sheet 4 HREXE-PWA-00-ZZ-DR-A-0204-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - Basement Floor Plan HREXE-PWA-00-B0-M2-A-0049-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - Ground Floor Plan HREXE-PWA-00-00-M2-A-0050-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - 1st Floor Plan HREXE-PWA-00-01-M2-A-0051-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - 2nd Floor Plan HREXE-PWA-00-02-M2-A-0052-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - 3rd Floor Plan HREXE-PWA-00-03-M2-A-0053-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - 4th Floor Plan HREXE-PWA-00-04-M2-A-0054-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - 5th Floor Plan HREXE-PWA-00-05-M2-A-0055-G3 
Proposed Site Layout - Roof Plan HREXE-PWA-00-06-M2-A-0056-G3 
Proposed Block A Bay Study HREXE-PWA-A0-ZZ-DR-A-0410-G3 
Proposed Block A Elevations - Sheet 1 HREXE-PWA-A0-ZZ-DR-A-0210-G3 
Proposed Block A Elevations - Sheet 2 HREXE-PWA-A0-ZZ-DR-A-0211-G2 
Proposed Block A Floor Plans HREXE-PWA-A0-ZZ-DR-A-0110-G3 

Page 63



 48

Proposed Block A Sections HREXE-PWA-A0-ZZ-DR-A-0310-G3 
Proposed Block B Bay Study HREXE-PWA-B0-ZZ-DR-A-0411-G3 
Proposed Block B Elevations- Sheet 1 HREXE-PWA-B0-ZZ-DR-A-0220-G3 
Proposed Block B Elevations- Sheet 2 HREXE-PWA-B0-ZZ-DR-A-0221-G2 
Proposed Block B Floor Plans HREXE-PWA-B0-ZZ-DR-A-0120-G3 
Proposed Block B Sections HREXE-PWA-B0-ZZ-DR-A-0320-G3 
Proposed Block C Bay Study HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0412-G3 
Proposed Block C Elevations - Sheet 1 HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0230-G3 
Proposed Block C Elevations - Sheet 2 HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0231-G3 
Proposed Block C Elevations - Sheet 3 HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0232-G3 
Proposed Block C Floor Plans (Sheet 1) HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0130-G3 
Proposed Block C Floor Plans (Sheet 2) HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0131-G3 
Proposed Block C Floor Plans (Sheet 3) HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0132-G3 
Proposed Block C Proposed Floor Plans (Sheet 4) HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0133-G3 
Proposed Block C Sections - Sheet 01 HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0330-G3 
Proposed Block C Sections - Sheet 02 HREXE-PWA-C0-ZZ-DR-A-0331-G3 
Proposed Block D Sections - HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0340-G3 
Proposed Block D Bay Study HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0413-G3 
Proposed Block D Elevations - Sheet 1 HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0240-G3 
Proposed Block D Elevations - Sheet 2 HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0241-G3 
Proposed Block D Elevations - Sheet 3 HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0242-G2 
Proposed Block D Floor Plans (Sheet 1) HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0140-G3 
Proposed Block D Proposed Floor Plans (Sheet 2) HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0141-G3 
Proposed Block D Floor Plans (Sheet 3) HREXE-PWA-D0-ZZ-DR-A-0142-G3 
 
Reason: In order to ensure compliance with the approved drawings. 
 
3) Unless otherwise agreed in writing the landscaping of the site shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved scheme shown on the plans listed below, and shall be 
completed to a timetable that has been agreed in writing prior to the occupation of any part of 
the residential development hereby approved. 
 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-02-DR-L-1007-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-02-DR-L-1008-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-03-DR-L-1009-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-03-DR-L-1010-PL03. 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-04-DR-L-1011-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-04-DR-L-1012-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-XX-DI-L-0001_PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-1000-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-1001-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-1002-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-1003-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-1004-PL03 

Page 64



 49

External Landscaping D3141-FAB-00-XX-DR-L-1013-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-01-XX-DR-L-1005-PL03 
External Landscaping D3141-FAB-01-XX-DR-L-1006-PL03 
 
Reason: To safeguard the rights of control by the Local Planning Authority in these respects 
and in the interests of amenity. 
 
Pre-Commencement Conditions 
 
4) No development (including ground works) or vegetation clearance works shall take place 
until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Statement shall provide for: 

a) The site access point(s) of all vehicles to the site during the construction phase, 
and the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
b) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors. 
c) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to 
commencement of any work; 
d) Areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload 
building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials 
and waste, with confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park 
on the County highway for loading or unloading purposes, unless the correct licences 
have been obtained and notification issued to the Local Planning Authority;  
e) The location of the site compound and details of how power will be provided to the 
compound (use of a generator overnight will not normally be considered acceptable). 
f) Details of wheel washing facilities. 
g) The layout of the site including storage areas of plant and materials (including any 
piling of soils) used in constructing the development. 
h) The means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and  
i) A noise and vibration management plan, including details of quantitative monitoring 
of noise and/or vibration to be conducted if deemed necessary by the LPA following 
justified complaints. 
j) A detailed proactive and reactive dust management plan, including details of 
quantitative monitoring of dust emissions. 
k) No burning on site during construction or site preparation works. 
l) Construction working hours and deliveries from 8:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 
8:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays, unless 
agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
m) All plant and equipment based at the site to use white noise reversing alarms or a 
banksman unless agreed otherwise in writing in the CEMP. 
n) No driven piling shall take place without prior consent from the LPA. 
o) Any non-road mobile machinery (NRMM) based at the site shall be of at least 
stage IIIB emission standard (or higher if stage IIB has not been defined for the type 
of machinery) unless agreed otherwise in writing in the CEMP. 
p) The erection and maintenance of securing hoarding, if appropriate. (Hoarding is to 
be kept free of fly posting and graffiti). 
q) Arrangements for communication and liaison with local residents, including regular 
letter drops and a dedicated contact number for complaints.  

Page 65



 50

 
An approved Statement shall be strictly adhered to throughout the construction period of 
the development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting amenity. 
 
5) Pre-commencement condition: No materials shall be brought onto the site or any 
development commenced, until the developer has erected tree protective fencing around all 
trees or shrubs to be retained. This shall be in produced in accordance with BS 5837:2012 - 
Trees in Relation to Design, demolition and construction and shall have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement.   It shall 
detail how the trees shown as retained on the Arboricultural Plan (ref. TF1210-FAB-00-XX-
DR-G-8301-TF1210-FAB-00-XX-DR-G-8301) received 15 June 2023 shall be protected 
during construction. The works within the root protection zones of the retained trees shall 
only be carried out in accordance with an Arboricultural Method Statement that shall have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
commencement of development on site.  
 
Reason for pre-commencement condition - To ensure the protection of the trees during the 
carrying out of the development. This information is required before development 
commences to protect trees during all stages of the construction process. 
 
6) Pre-commencement condition: Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, the non-residential parts of the development hereby approved shall achieve a 
BREEAM excellent standard (minimum 70% score) as a minimum. Prior to commencement 
of development of such a building, the developer shall submit to the Local Planning Authority 
a BREEAM design (interim) stage assessment report, to be written by a licensed BREEAM 
assessor, which shall set out the BREEAM score expected to be achieved by the building 
and the equivalent BREEAM standard to which the score relates. Where this does not meet 
the BREEAM minimum standard required, the developer shall provide, prior to the 
commencement of development of the building, details of what changes will be made to the 
building to achieve the minimum standard for the approval of the Local Planning Authority to 
be given in writing. The building must be completed fully in accordance with any approval 
given. A BREEAM post completion report of the building is to be carried out by a licensed 
BREEAM assessor within three months of substantial completion of the buildings and shall 
set out the BREEAM score achieved by the building and the equivalent BREEAM standard to 
which such score relates.  
 
Reason for pre commencement condition: To ensure that the proposal complies with Policy 
CP15 of Council's Adopted Core Strategy and in the interests of delivering sustainable 
development. The design stage assessment must be completed prior to commencement of 
development because the findings may influence the design for all stages of construction. 
 
7) No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site clearance) 
until a construction ecological management plan (CEcMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEcMP shall be based on the 
recommendations in the Ecological Assessment (Tyler Grange, 14769_R01b_JS_CW) and 
Tyler Grange response submitted on 23rd December 2022, and shall include appropriate 
measures, methods and communication lines to manage potentially damaging construction 

Page 66



 51

activities on ecological features including roosting bats (including supervision during 
demolition), nesting birds, badger, hedgehog, otter, Schedule 9 non-native species and any 
other significant features identified prior to, or during, construction. Once approved, the plan 
shall be implemented for the duration of the construction period. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting and enhancing the natural environment. 
 
8) No development shall take place until an investigation has taken place to determine the 
risk to development posed by Unexploded Ordinance. The results, together with any further 
works or recommended working practices deemed necessary shall thereafter be 
implemented on site. 
 
Reason: In the interests of public safety. 
 
9) No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 

(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy. This surface water drainage system shall be designed up to the 1 
in 100-year (+ climate change) rainfall event without any flooding predicted within the 
modelling. 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the 
site during construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water 
drainage system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 

 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and 
implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (d) above. 
 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage 
system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, 
adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national 
policies, including NPPF and PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is 
essential that the proposed surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before 
works begin to avoid redesign/unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is 
fixed. 
 
Pre-Construction Conditions 
 
10) No development approved by this planning permission, other than demolition to ground 
level, shall take place until a remediation strategy that includes the following components to 
deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall each be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 

 
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

o all previous uses 
o potential contaminants associated with those uses 

Page 67



 52

o a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
o potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

 
2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
 
3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in 
(2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full 
details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
 
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete 
and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. 
Any changes to these components require the express written consent of the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 

Reasons: To protect the environment and human health and to ensure that the development 
does not contribute to, and is not put at unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at 
the development site. This is in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
11) No development, other than demolition to ground level, shall take place until an 
Ecological Enhancement Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The plan shall show the locations, specifications and management of the 
site-wide faunal enhancements including bat boxes and the installation of a minimum 96 swift 
bricks. The plan must include a schedule of works that includes timescales for installing all 
proposed features and an auditing visit prior to final occupation to ensure installation has 
been correctly undertaken. All features will be installed according to the approved plan. 
 
Reason: in the interests of protecting and enhancing the natural environment. 
 
12) No development, other than demolition to ground level, shall take place until such time as 
the detailed design of the external site levels, minimum floor levels and the proposed flood 
water passage route has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The agreed design shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently 
maintained over the lifetime of the development.   
 
Reason: To reduce the impact of flooding to the site and ensure that there is no increase in 
risk to third parties. 
 
13) No development, other than demolition to ground level, shall take place until such time as 
the detailed design of flood resistance and resilience measures for the whole site has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The agreed measures 
shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently maintained over the lifetime 
of the development. 

Page 68



 53

 
Reason: To reduce the impact of flooding to the site and ensure that there is no increase in 
risk to third parties. 
 
14) No development related works (other than the demolition of the existing buildings to 
ground level) shall take place within the site until a written scheme of archaeological work 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This scheme 
shall include on-site work, and off-site work such as the analysis, publication, and archiving 
of the results, together with a timetable for completion of each element. All works shall be 
carried out and completed in accordance with the approved scheme, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason for pre commencement condition: To ensure the appropriate identification, recording 
and publication of archaeological and historic remains affected by the development. This 
information is required before development commences to ensure that historic remains are 
not damaged during the construction process. 
 
15) No development, other than demolition to ground level, shall take place until such time as 
the detailed design of flood resistance and resilience measures for the whole site has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The agreed measures 
shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently maintained over the lifetime 
of the development. 
 
Reason: To reduce the impact of flooding to the site and ensure that there is no increase in 
risk to third parties. until the detailed design of the proposed surface water drainage 
management system which will serve the development site for the full period of its 
construction has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority, 
in consultation with Devon County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority. This temporary 
surface water drainage management system must satisfactorily address both the rates and 
volumes, and quality, of the surface water runoff from the construction site. 
 
Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure that surface water runoff from the 
construction site is appropriately managed so as to not increase the flood risk, or pose water 
quality issues, to the surrounding area. 
 
16) Unless otherwise agreed, no development, other than demolition to ground level, shall be 
carried out unless details of a scheme for alternative ventilation to residential rooms in the 
southwest of the site shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall be designed to reduce the likelihood of overheating 
even if windows are kept closed when external noise levels are high. The approved scheme 
and equipment shall be installed and operated as agreed thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of residential occupiers. 
 
Pre-Occupation Conditions 
 
17) No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied or brought into use until a 
Section 278 agreement pursuant to highways works to pavements along Haven Road and 

Page 69



 54

Water Lane, the provision of servicing laybys and the construction of a raised table on Haven 
Road, and associated surfacing works has been entered into. 
 
Reason: In the interest of highway safety and encouraging sustainable travel. 
 
18) None of the residential parts of any building hereby approved shall be occupied until the 
secure cycle parking facilities for residents for that building have been provided in 
accordance with the approved plans. Thereafter the said cycle parking facilities shall be 
retained for that purpose at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure that cycle parking is provided, in accordance with Exeter Local Plan 
Policy T3. 
 
19) None of the commercial units hereby approved shall be occupied until the visitor cycle 
parking facilities have been provided in accordance with the approved plans. Thereafter the 
said cycle parking facilities shall be retained for that purpose at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure that cycle parking is provided, in accordance with Exeter Local Plan 
Policy T3. 
 
20) Prior to occupation of any premise which includes a commercial kitchen, details of 
equipment to control emissions of smoke, odour and grease shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved equipment and systems 
shall be installed and operated as 
agreed thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of nearby residential occupiers. 
 
21) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a Flood Emergency Plan 
has been prepared. 
 
This should:  
- Characterise and quantify the flood risk from all sources, 
- identify relevant flood warnings and like notice of flood events, 
- detail who is at risk, including any vulnerable occupiers, 
- explain how the Plan will be triggered, 
- define responsible persons, 
- describe actions and responsibilities, 
- detail flood resistance or resilience measures on site, 
- detail emergency services infrastructure on site, 
- identify flood escape routes to a safe location, 
- outline evacuation procedures, and 
- establish procedures for monitoring and reviewing the plan through the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the safety of future residents. 

Page 70



 55

 
22) Prior to the occupation or bringing into us of any part of the development hereby 
approved details of the arrangements that have been put in place for the ongoing 
management and maintenance of the communal spaces, landscaping, surfaces, street 
furniture, play space, means of enclosure, access controls and parking (including cycles), 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority and 
these arrangement shall have been secured on an ongoing basis. 
 
Reason: To ensure the communal spaces are maintained and continue to serve and provide 
amenity to the occupiers of the dwellings hereby permitted. 
 
Other Conditions 
 
23) Piling or deep investigation boreholes using penetrative methods shall not be carried out 
other than with the written consent of the local planning authority. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from 
previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. This is in line with 
paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
24) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local 
planning authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted a remediation 
strategy to the local planning authority detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be 
dealt with and obtained written approval from the local planning authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.  
 
Reasons: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of  pollution from 
previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. This is in line with 
paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
25) Unless otherwise agreed in writing external materials shall be in accordance with 
Proposed Material Schedule Sheets 1 and 2 received 14 June 2023. Unless otherwise 
agreed in writing samples of the materials it is intended to use externally in the construction 
of the development shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. No external finishing 
material shall be used until the Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that its use 
is acceptable. Thereafter the materials used in the construction of the development shall 
correspond with the approved samples in all respects. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the final materials conform with the application. 
 
26) In the event of failure of any trees or shrubs, planted in accordance with any landscaping 
scheme approved by the Local Planning Authority or retained during development, to 
become established or to prosper for a period of five years from the date of the completion of 
implementation of that scheme, such trees or shrubs shall be replaced with such live 

Page 71



 56

specimens of such species of such size and in such number as may be approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the rights of control by the Local Planning Authority in these respects 
and in the interests of amenity. 
 
27) Cumulative noise from all building services plant shall not exceed the following rating 
noise levels (measured in accordance with BS4142:2014 at 1m from the nearest noise 
sensitive property): 
 
Between the hours of 07:00 to 23:00 
Receptors to the north east of development 40  
Receptors to the south west of the development 40  
Receptors to the north west and south east of the development 30  
Receptors within the site 35  
 
Between the hours of 23:00 to 07:00 
Receptors to the north east of development 33 
Receptors to the south west of the development 33 
Receptors to the north west and south east of the development 27 
Receptors within the site 29 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. 
 
28) Glazing and ventilation in the building facades shall achieve at least the levels of sound 
insulation specified in Table 5.1 of the submitted Noise Assessment Report (dated 18 July 
2022 by auricl acoustic consulting). 
 
Reason: To ensure acceptable level of amenity for future residential occupiers. 
 
29) External seating areas associated with commercial premises shall only be used between 
the hours of 08:00 and 23:00. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of nearby residential occupiers. 
 
30) Unless otherwise agreed in writing deliveries to and collections of refuse/recycling from 
commercial premises shall take place between the hours of 08:00 to 21:00 only. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of nearby residential occupiers. 
 
31) All commercial kitchens within the development shall be provided with a high-level 
discharge point for their kitchen extraction system. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of nearby residential occupiers. 
 

Page 72



 57

32) Notwithstanding the approved plans no external lighting shall be installed on the site 
unless the details have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the residential occupiers and in the interest of highway 
safety. 
 
33) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Waste Management Plan 
dated December 2022 or such other plan as may subsequently be approved in writing by the 
LPA. 
 
Reason: To minimise the amount of waste produced and promote sustainable methods of 
waste management in accordance with Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan and the Waste 
Management and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning Document. These details are 
required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that building operations are carried out 
in a sustainable manner. 
 
34) Unless otherwise agreed in writing prior to construction of the buildings hereby approved 
construction shall only be carried out in accordance with the standards and technologies 
described in the Energy and Sustainability Statement v6 dated 23 May 2023. 
 
Reason: In the interests of securing the described energy performance of the buildings which 
are considered to be significant material consideration in determining the application. 
 
35) The buildings comprised in the development hereby approved shall be constructed in 
accordance with the CIBSE Heat Networks Code of Practice so that the internal systems for 
water heating are capable of being connected to a low temperature hot water heat network. 
Prior to commencement of construction a route for connection of the buildings to a point (or 
points) on the boundary of the site shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the proposal complies with Policy CP13 of the Council's adopted 
Core Strategy and paragraph 153 of the National Planning Policy Framework and in the 
interests of delivering sustainable development. 
 
36) Notwithstanding the approved plans, those windows of the co-living bedroom units in 
Block D listed below that are in the northwest elevations only of Block D shall be constructed 
as obscure glazed and maintained as such thereafter. 
 
101, 117, 118, 154, 155, 201, 226, 301 and 323 
 
Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of occupiers and neighbouring occupiers. 
 
37) Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water (other than flood 
water) so that none drains on to any County Highway. 
 
Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 

Page 73



 58

Informatives: 
 
1) In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework the Council 
has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant and has negotiated 
amendments to the application to enable the grant of planning permission. 
 
2) In accordance with Chapters 1 and 2 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017, this development has been screened in respect of the need for an 
Appropriate Assessment (AA). Given the nature of the development, it has been concluded 
that an AA is required in relation to potential impact on the relevant Special Protection Area 
(SPA), the Exe Estuary, which is a designated European site. This AA has been carried out 
and concludes that the development is such that it could have an impact primarily associated 
with recreational activity of future occupants of the development. This impact will be 
mitigated in line with the South East Devon European Site Mitigation Strategy prepared by 
Footprint Ecology on behalf of East Devon and Teignbridge District Councils and Exeter City 
Council (with particular reference to Table 26), which is being funded through a proportion of 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) collected in respect of the development being 
allocated to fund the mitigation strategy. Or, if the development is not liable to pay CIL, to pay 
the appropriate habitats mitigation contribution through another mechanism (this is likely to 
be either an undertaking in accordance with s111 of the Local Government Act 1972 or a 
Unilateral Undertaking). 
 
3) The Local Planning Authority considers that this development will be CIL (Community 
Infrastructure Levy) liable. Payment will become due following commencement of 
development. Accordingly, your attention is drawn to the need to complete and submit an 
'Assumption of Liability' notice to the Local Planning Authority as soon as possible. A copy is 
available on the Exeter City Council website. It is also drawn to your attention that where a 
chargeable development is commenced before the Local Authority has received a valid 
commencement notice (i.e. where pre-commencement conditions have not been discharged) 
the Local Authority may impose a surcharge, and the ability to claim any form of relief from 
the payment of the Levy will be foregone.  You must apply for any relief and receive 
confirmation from the Council before commencing development.  For further information 
please see www.exeter.gov.uk/cil. 
 
4) A legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 relates 
to this planning permission. 
 
5) The residential development hereby approved will not be eligible for Residents Parking 
Permits for on street parking. 
 
6) Although not matters contained within the scope of this application, the applicant should 
be advised to contact the Commercial Section of Environmental Health Services (01392 
265148) in order to ensure that the following items will comply with all relevant British 
Standards, Regulations and guidance: 
- Food safety issues - design and layout of the kitchens including fixtures, fittings, storage 
and ventilation. 
- Management of the gym 
 

Page 74



 59

 
Alternative Recommendation: 
 

b) REFUSE PERMISSION IF THE LEGAL AGREEMENT UNDER SECTION 106 OF 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (AS AMENDED) IS NOT 
COMPLETED BY TWELVE MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF THIS COMMITTEE OR 
SUCH EXTENDED TIME AS AGREED IN WRITING BY THE SERVICE LEAD (CITY 
DEVELOPMENT)

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



9

Activity Centre

68

47 to 56

41

58

6

Nursing Home

24

64

46

6 t
o 8

34

10 to 18

72

1

25

76

21

Compass Quay

64

40

Waterside

18

32

Posts

12

7.6m

1 
to

 4

60

21

7.6m

Depot

39
 to

 46

9

15 To 23

14 to 24

9

30

HAVEN ROAD

2

to 17

1

77

18 to 21

Ci
ty 

In
du

str
ial

 E
sta

te

3 to 19

10

H
aven

FB

76

1

Landing Stage

18

70

56 to 61

44

14 to 19

1

60

C
O

LL
ET

O
N

 H
IL

L

ED & W
ard Bdy

33

Garage

77

DIAMOND ROAD

Floyers-Hay Court

3

SM

7

36

6.7m

1 to 6

Flood Gate

LB

PCs

15

FB

1

13

28

C
H

AM
BE

R
LA

IN
 R

O
AD

Banks

1 to 6Sub Sta

Se
rg

e 
Co

ur
t

10

9

IRIS AVENUE

35

7

Line of Posts

14

35

Garage

5

ISC
A R

O
AD

PH

Depot

1a to 1d

57

H
AV

EN
 C

LO
SE

STREAM
 CO

URT

Clipper Quay

Shelter

9

M
EL

BO
U

R
N

E

16

HAVEN ROAD

80

79

12

65

ED Bdy

1 t
o 3

9

Waterside

16

H
ouse

Lodge

24

81 to 84

Posts

27

1 to 8

64a

River Exe

52

W
ATER LANE

2

6.4m

56 to 60

7.0m

48

8

FB

25

Haven Banks

GERVASE AVENUE

7.0m

El

1 to 33

THE QUAY

10

5

14

Haven Banks

25

Mooring Posts

2

13

Waterside

to

6.7m

47
 to

 49

7.0m

Terracina Court

Shearman Court

17

22

Colleton

1 to 7

19

42

17

3

10

El

House

14

1 to 6

MARITIME COURT

Shelter

74

Crane

13

1 to 11

GREENFORD

11

Court

6a

22 To 25

Haven

El Sub Sta

1 t
o 4

40

Ferr
y (

F)

15

45

15

39

58

7 to 9

39

45

7.9m

Flood Gate

Friars

36 to 39

Waterside

El Sub Sta

54

Car Park

78

62

6

1

14

Well-Park House

10

28

7

Shilhay

Fu
lle

rs 
Cou

rt

3

30

12

46
30

31

50

ED
 &

 W
ar

d 
Bd

y

5

1

Slipway

71

14 to 16

TheH
am

pden Place

1 to 7

57 to 67

9

30

8

27
 to

 2
9

Mooring Posts

6

14

7

68

12

C
R

C
yc

le
 W

ay

1

51
 to

 5
7

2

Sydney Place

Cricklepit Bridge

Lodge

C
H

AN
D

LE
R

S 
W

AL
K

49

Play Area

18

1

5

13.7m

Marina

Hove Villas

40

31

44

19

27

94
 to

 1
01

22

39

4

D
yers C

ourt

14

16

13

ALPH
IN

G
TO

N
 STR

EET

SM

13

Foundry

7 t
o 1

4

31
 to

 38

4

3

5

25

5 to 13

1 
to

 4

13

Maclaines W
arehouse

85 to 88

6.7m

32

14

8

55

Gas Gov

16

Sub Sta

7

21.6m

1

1t
o 

3

9

66

23

7.3m

Ex
e 

Br
idg

e 
So

ut
h

13

The Quay

89

1 to 16

Painters

El Sub Sta

Sloping masonry

Piaz
za

 Te
rra

cin
a

17

Posts

Homeclyst

25

19

MIC
HA

EL
 B

RO
W

NI
NG

 W
AY

G
abriel Court

42

22.6m

18.3m

13

63
Coney Court

Sub Sta

WILLIAMS AVENUE

50

Court

1 to 12

7 to 9

13
Mooring Posts

29

30

Coolings

Brewers Court

7.6m

4

37

16

93

SM

VILLAS

15

7

SH
O

O
TI

N
G

 M
AR

SH
 S

TI
LE

7.0m

8

18

75

COLLETON CRESCENT

10

El

53

FO
R

D
S 

R
O

AD

1

51

29

74

4

26

6

7.9m

43

Ashmore Court

5

27

2

FB

72

78

5

22.9m

34 to 42

20

Unit 22

Site Boundary

Key

Unit to be Demolished

PLANNING

N

Project Name:

 © Piper Whitlock Architecture Ltd,
2nd Floor, Anglo St. James House, 39a Southgate Street, Winchester, Hampshire, SO23 9EH

Tel: 01962 843586, Email: enquiries@piperwhitlock.co.uk, www.piperwhitlock.co.uk

Drawing Title:

Client:

Project Ref:

Status:

Rev:Orig: Zone: Num: Type: Role:Lev:

DRPWA- - -A----

Rev Date DrComments Ch

Scale @ A2:Stage:Notes: Use annotated dimensions only. All dimensions in millimeters
unless otherwise stated. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
other related material. Any discrepancies, conflicts or errors must be
reported to Piper Whitlock Architecture before commencing work.

PWA Code:

Haven Banks,
Exeter

Welbeck CP

Existing Site 
Location Plan 

HREXE 00 00 0001 G1

3 1:125020021 25m 50m0

G1 Planning Issue 29-07-2022 EL AM

Ordnance Survey (c):  HREXE_Existing Site Plan 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO:  PLANNING COMMITTEE    
Date of Meeting: 5th December, 2023 
Report of: City Development Strategic Lead 
Title: Appeals Report 
 
Is this a Key Decision? No 
 
Is this an Executive or Council Function?   No 
 

1. What is the report about? 

1.1 The report provides Members with information on latest decisions received 
and new appeals since the last report (13/11/2023).   

2. Recommendation: 

2.1 Members are asked to note the report.   

3. Appeal Decisions 

3.1 There are no new Appeal Decisions 
 

 

4.  New Appeals 

4.1 23/0534/FUL  14 Jersey Road, Pinhoe.  Loft conversion, including installation of Velux 
windows to rear elevation and single Velux to front elevation on existing roof   

 Ian Collinson 
Director of City Development 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 
Background papers used in compiling the report:  
Letters, application files and appeal documents referred to in report are available for 
inspection from: City Development, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter 
 
Contact for enquiries: Democratic Services (Committees) - Tel: 01392 265275 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6

https://publicaccess.exeter.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RTTZ6OHBFJK00


This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO:  PLANNING COMMITTEE 
Date of Meeting: 5th December 2023 
Report of:  City Development Strategic Lead 
Title:   Delegated Decisions and Planning Report Acronyms  
 
1 WHAT IS THE REPORT ABOUT 

 
1.1 This report lists planning applications determined and applications that have been 

withdrawn between the date of finalising the agenda of the last Planning Committee 
and the date of finalising this agenda. Applications are listed by Ward. 
 

2 
 
2.1 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
3 
 
3.1 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Members are requested to advise the Assistant Service Lead City Development 
(Roger Clotworthy) or the Director of City Development (Ian Collinson) of any 
questions on the schedule prior to Planning Committee meeting. 
 
Members are asked to note the report. 
 
PLANNING APPLICATION CODES 
 
The latter part of the application reference number indicates the type of application: 
OUT Outline Planning Permission 
RES Approval of Reserved Matters 
FUL Full Planning Permission 
TPO Works to Tree(s) with Preservation Order 
ADV Advertisement Consent 
CAT Works to Tree(s) in Conservation Area 
LBC Listed Building Consent 
ECC Exeter City Council Regulation 3 
LED Lawfulness of Existing Use/Development 
LPD Certificate of Proposed Use/Development 
TEL Telecommunication Apparatus Determination 
CMA County Matter Application 
CTY Devon County Council Application 
MDO Modification and Discharge of Planning Obligation Regulations 
NMA Non Material Amendment 
EXT    Extension to Extant Planning Consent 
PD Extension - Prior Approval 
PDJ  Office to Dwelling - Prior Approval 
 

3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4 

The decision type uses the following codes: 
DREF  Deemed Refusal 
DTD    Declined To Determine 
NLU   Was Not Lawful Use 
PAN    Prior Approval Not Required 
PAR   Prior Approval Required 
PER Permitted 
REF Refuse Planning Permission 
RNO Raise No Objection 
ROB Raise Objections 
SPL Split Decision 
WDN Withdrawn by Applicant 
WLU Was Lawful Use 
WTD Withdrawn - Appeal against non-determination 
 
PLANNING REPORT ACRONYMS  
 
The following list explains the acronyms used in Officers reports: 
AH  Affordable Housing 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



AIP   Approval in Principle 
BCIS   Building Cost Information Service 
CEMP   Construction Environmental Management Plan 
CIL   Community Infrastructure Levy 
DCC   Devon County Council 
DCLG  Department for Communities and Local Government: the former name 

of the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
DfE    Department for Education 
DfT   Department for Transport 
dph   Dwellings per hectare 
ECC   Exeter City Council 
EIA    Environment Impact Assessment 
EPS    European Protected Species 
ESFA    Education and Skills Funding Agency  
ha    Hectares 
HMPE   Highway Maintainable at Public Expense 
ICNIRP   International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection 
MHCLG  Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
NPPF   National Planning Policy Framework 
QBAR  The mean annual flood: the value of the average annual flood event 

recorded in a river 
SAM     Scheduled Ancient Monument  
SANGS  Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space 
SEDEMS South East Devon European Sites Mitigation Strategy 
SPA   Special Protection Area 
SPD   Supplementary Planning Document 
SPR    Standard Percentage Runoff  
TA   Transport Assessment 
TEMPro  Trip End Model Presentation Program  
TPO    Tree Preservation Order 
TRO  Traffic Regulation Order 
UE  Urban Extension 
 

  
Ian Collinson 
Director of City Development  

Page 82



Alphington

23/1017/FUL 19/10/2023

Permitted 22/11/2023

Delegated Decision

7 Anning Crescent Exeter EX2 8NG 

Construction of summerhouse, veranda, shed and patio in rear 
garden.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1102/FUL 21/09/2023

Refuse Planning Permission 08/11/2023

Delegated Decision

1 Chudleigh Road Exeter EX2 8TS 

Temporary planning permission for retention of storage container

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1156/FUL 19/10/2023

Permitted 20/11/2023

Delegated Decision

15 Chapel Road Exeter EX2 8TB 

Change of external materials: 1.) Replace existing white uPVC 
windows � doors with dark grey uPVC; 2.) Change vertical tile 
hanging to dormer window to dark grey.  Vertical aluminium "Prefa" 
cladding.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1224/DEM

Prior Approval Required and 
Granted

16/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Exton Road Depot Exton Road Exeter EX2 8LX 

Demolition of brick built former sewage pumping station within the 
curtilage of Exeter City Councils weighbridge site.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1227/NMA

Permitted 08/11/2023

Delegated Decision

7 Lovelace Gardens Exeter EX2 8XQ 

We are extending the extensive green area at the rear.  The added 
green roof  will not be visible from the front elevation or the street.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

All Planning Decisions Made and Withdrawn Applications 
between 04/11/2023 and 23/11/2023

Page 83



Duryard And St James

23/0609/PDPV 06/07/2023

Prior Approval Required and 
Granted

10/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Streatham Campus Stocker Road Exeter  

Prior approval application for installation of roof-mounted PV solar 
panels on various non-domestic buildings in the Streatham 
Campus.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0660/PDU

Prior Approval Required and 
Granted

10/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Pennsylvania Court  St Germans Road Exeter Devon EX4 6TP

Prior approval application for the installation of roof-mounted 
handrails.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0761/PDU

Prior Approval Required and 
Refused

10/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Holland Hall Clydesdale Road Exeter EX4 4SA 

Prior approval application for the installation of rooftop handrails.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1142/CAT

Permitted 06/11/2023

Delegated Decision

28 Velwell Road Exeter EX4 4LD 

 Wild damson or plum tree. No. 1 on the sketch plan.A substantial 
tree in a garden with other trees, bushes etc.Some of the branches 
of the tree reach out into and over the drive of the neighbouring 
property (owned by 'The Dales').They have broken the fence 
between the two properties. The foliage of the upper branches 
sometimes collides with high-sided vehicles in the driveway of the 
Dales. The proposed work is to prune those branches that reach 
out into the neighbouring property.This will enable the replacement 
of the broken fence (for which I am responsible) and avoid further 
damage. Also upper branches which reach out into the driveway 
need to be pruned. The tree itself will not be cut down nor will the 
pruning damage the continued life of the tree as a whole. The work 
will be completed by a tree surgeon (Neil Bygrave, Exeter Tree and 
Garden care)- a provisional date of Sat Nov 18 has been agreed, if 
approval is given by that date. The proposal has been discussed 
and agreed with the maintenance staff of the Dales.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 84



Exwick

23/1092/NMA

Permitted 08/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Exwick Changing Rooms Western Road Exeter EX4 1EG 

Changed conditions to reflect phased delivery of project

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1345/CAT

Permitted 08/11/2023

Delegated Decision

North Wing The Hermitage 20 Exwick Hill Exeter EX4 2AQ 

NorthReduce height of laurel Trees

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Heavitree

23/0481/LED

Was lawful use 13/11/2023

Delegated Decision

10 Ladysmith Road Exeter Devon EX1 2PU

House has been rented out continuously as a 4 bedroom house of 
multiple occupation since at least 2007

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0746/FUL 22/06/2023

Permitted 09/11/2023

Delegated Decision

16 Salutary Mount Fore Street Heavitree Devon EX1 2QE 

Single storey ground floor extension, small first floor extension, 
replacement windows, increase ridge height and addition of front 
and rear dormers

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1270/LPD

Was lawful use 22/11/2023

Delegated Decision

47 Anthony Road Exeter EX1 2SS 

Flat 'L' shaped dormer to the rear elevation and 1 x Velux rooflight 
to the front elevation

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1277/CAT

Permitted 06/11/2023

Delegated Decision

5 St Johns Villas Sivell Place Exeter EX2 5ES 

Bay tree - has become over grown, and is damaging our garden 
wall.Apple tree - has died

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 85



Mincinglake And Whipton

23/0843/NMA

Permitted 08/11/2023

Delegated Decision

34 Merlin Crescent Exeter EX4 9AG 

The proposed rear extension remains the same as that approved. 
This application includes anew window to the right elevation of the 
dwelling house

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1241/PD

Prior Approval Not Required 20/11/2023

Delegated Decision

5 Whipton Barton Road Exeter EX1 3LN 

Single storey rear extension to a maximum depth of 4.5m and a 
height of 3m.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Newtown And St Leonards

21/1956/FUL 24/03/2022

Permitted 07/11/2023

Delegated Decision

70-72 Heavitree Road Exeter Devon EX1 2LP 

Conversion of two residential dwellings into a House in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) for up to 24 persons.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1235/CAT

Permitted 06/11/2023

Delegated Decision

8 Marlborough Road Exeter EX2 4TJ 

T1 - Apple, reduce crown to previous pruning points and thin 
canopy by 10%, maximum diameter of cut (MDC) 50mm.T3 - 
Weeping Birch, remove 3 small branches at top of tree, crown lift 
above neighbour's greenhouse to achieve a 1.5m clearance, MDC 
25mm.T4 - Contorted Willow, crown reduce by approximately 
1.5m, MDC 50mm.T9 - Cherry, fell severely declining tree to 
ground level. Reason for works: T1 & T3 are minor works that are 
acceptable as appropriate management for these garden trees; T4 
has decay at the base of the tree and the reduction is to alleviate 
weight stresses at this point to allow the tree to continue to grow 
but remain stable; T9 is in a severely declining state and is not 
worthy of retention.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1240/CAT

Permitted 07/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Pip-kins Day Nursery Eriswell 6 Barnfield Hill Exeter EX1 1SR 

T1 - Bay - Reduce to the previous growth points (approximately 
50% of the crown)

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 86



23/1242/TPO

Permitted 06/11/2023

Delegated Decision

25 St Leonards Road Exeter EX2 4LA 

As Per Tree Survey Report RecommendationsT1 - x1 Large 
Mature Cedar of Lebanon - Smaller Primary Branch (which forks 
into three, see attached tree survey report) - Reduce back the 
middle branch by removing approximately x2.50 metres from 
branch tips, ensuring finishing cuts do not exceed x60mm in 
diameter.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1246/CAT

Permitted 06/11/2023

Delegated Decision

31 Marlborough Road Exeter EX2 4TJ 

Magnolia (T1) - Two meter height reduction to previous points.Crab 
apple (T2) - Fell.Quince (T3) - Fell

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1261/CAT

Permitted 07/11/2023

Delegated Decision

45 Spicer Road Exeter EX1 1TA 

T1 Holly Fell

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1295/CAT

Permitted 07/11/2023

Delegated Decision

32 Blackboy Road Exeter EX4 6ST 

I think the tree is an Arizona cypress and have included photos. I 
would like to remove the tree entirely as it has caused issues with 
neighbours telephone/broadband wires and on several occasions 
branches have fallen onto the building next to it causing minor 
damage. I would be happy to plant a replacement tree in a different 
location if required.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1296/CAT

Permitted 07/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Sydenham House Blackboy Road Exeter EX4 6SX 

T1 - Monterey CypressSuggested Works: Remove lowest south 
eastern limb back to source. Reduce south eastern crown by 1.5-2 
metres, approximately in line with the middle of the road.Rationale: 
These works are suggested as part of the reasonable management 
of this large roadside tree and to try to ensure that it does not 
begin to interfere with the traffic.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 87



23/1366/DIS

Condition(s) Fully 
Discharged

16/11/2023

Delegated Decision

1 St Leonards Place Exeter EX2 4LZ 

1. Detail of proposed 'conservation' rooflight installation to rear 
(north-east) roof slope of principal residence (yet to be installed) 
[Refer submitted detail drawing 2301-301];2. *Details of joinery for 
installed fenestration to enlarged / re-modelled Coach House rear 
extension [Refer submitted detail drawing 1801-305-B];3. *Detail of 
installed 'conservation' rooflights to rear roof slope of enlarged / re-
modelled Coach House rear extension.[Refer submitted detail 
drawing 1801-306-A].(* Refer also relevant correspondence with 
LPA in June 2023 in relation to subsequently related application 
Ref.  23/0747/LBC)

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Pennsylvania

23/0991/FUL 05/10/2023

Permitted 17/11/2023

Delegated Decision

4 Elizabeth Avenue Exeter EX4 7EJ 

Alterations and formation of a front extension, replacement side 
extension with first floor element.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1189/FUL 05/10/2023

Permitted 22/11/2023

Delegated Decision

81 Mount Pleasant Road Exeter EX4 7AE 

Changes to external window layout, demolition of garage, and 
removal of rear tenement bay window

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Pinhoe

23/1147/FUL 21/09/2023

Refuse Planning Permission 09/11/2023

Delegated Decision

6 Park Lane Exeter EX4 9HL 

Balcony at first floor level on rear elevation of dwelling (using 
existing flat roof).

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Priory

23/1005/FUL 31/08/2023

Permitted 14/11/2023

Delegated Decision

12 Wendover Way Exeter EX2 6JG 

Rear and side ground floor extension and internal alterations.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 88



23/1211/LBC 12/10/2023

Permitted 21/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Wonford House Hospital Dryden Road Exeter EX2 5AF 

Removal of internal wall within FF173.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1225/DEM

Prior Approval Required and 
Granted

15/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Northbrook Golf Course Topsham Road Exeter EX2 6EU 

Demolition of former Pavilion for Northbrook Pitch and Putt golf 
course.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

St Davids

23/0515/FUL 05/10/2023

Refuse Planning Permission 21/11/2023

Delegated Decision

20 Bonhay Road Exeter Devon EX4 4BR

Loft conversion with dormer and external access stairs

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0917/LBC 03/08/2023

Permitted 16/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Dean Clarke House Southernhay East Exeter  

Internal alterations including the removal of existing partitions. 
Formation of new partitions, openings and doors.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0968/LBC 19/10/2023

Permitted 17/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Georges Meeting House 38 South Street Exeter EX1 1ED 

Replacement pavers in beer garden.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1022/PDM

Prior Approval Required and 
Granted

10/11/2023

Delegated Decision

4 St Davids Hill Exeter EX4 3RG 

Converting the existing ground floor commercial space, to a two 
bed dwelling (C3 use)

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 89



23/1069/FUL 28/09/2023

Permitted 14/11/2023

Delegated Decision

23 Norwood Avenue Exeter EX2 4RT 

Front porch and rear extension.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1202/FUL 19/10/2023

Permitted 15/11/2023

Delegated Decision

16-17 Princesshay Exeter EX1 1GE 

Alterations to shopfront

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1203/ADV

Permitted 15/11/2023

Delegated Decision

16-17 Princesshay Exeter EX1 1GE 

Internally illuminated fascia sign

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1219/CAT

Permitted 06/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Argyle House Gandy Street Exeter EX4 3LS 

1x Hazel - Coppice to 0.3m above ground level.1x Sumac - 
Dismantle and fell to near ground level.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1254/DIS

Condition(s) Fully 
Discharged

16/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Cathedral Green Exeter Cathedral Cathedral Yard Exeter EX1 1HS 

Discharge of condition three (Tree Protection Plan and 
Arboricultural Method Statement) and seven (management plan) of 
23/0833/FUL

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1258/CAT

Permitted 06/11/2023

Delegated Decision

4 Wheatley Court Market Street Exeter EX1 1DS 

1x Field Maple situated in front of No 4,5 and 6 -  Prune away from 
the adjacent buildings to achieve a maximum clearance of 2m.  All 
pruning cuts will be made back to suitable pruning points.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 90



Topsham

23/0788/FUL 28/09/2023

Permitted 14/11/2023

Delegated Decision

9 Monmouth Hill Topsham EX3 0JQ 

Replacement roof, windows, doors, render finish as well as internal 
alterations � rear extension.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0789/LBC 28/09/2023

Permitted 14/11/2023

Delegated Decision

9 Monmouth Hill Topsham EX3 0JQ 

Replacement roof, windows, doors, render finish as well as internal 
alterations � rear extension.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0875/VOC 12/10/2023

Permitted 14/11/2023

Committee Decision

Sandy Park Stadium Sandy Park Way Exeter EX2 7NN 

Redevelopment to increase capacity from 10750 to 20600 by three 
new grandstands, additional parking, bus/coach drop off and 
extension to west stand including conference centre to south 
stand.  (Variation of condition 7 of 12/1030/FUL to allow up to 6 
music concerts per year to take place on weekends only between 
1st May and 15th July inclusive, to avoid bank holiday weekends 
and any local school holidays, for an attendance of up to 15,500 
people per concert.)

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0969/FUL 10/08/2023

Permitted 15/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Riversmeet House Bowling Green Road Riversmeet Topsham EX3 
0BE 

Replacement garage and extended/altered garage, and erection of 
Widow's Tower at roof level of main building with no obscure 
glazing (retrospective application)

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/0970/LBC 10/08/2023

Permitted 15/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Riversmeet House Bowling Green Road Riversmeet Topsham EX3 
0BE 

Retention of internal alterations including new/replacement 
staircases, removal of walls in ground floor kitchen and in 
basement, new walls, doors and rooflights on second floor and 
Widow's Tower without obscure glazing at roof level

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Page 91



23/1125/FUL 14/09/2023

Permitted 08/11/2023

Delegated Decision

489 Topsham Road Exeter EX2 7AQ 

Ground floor rear extension, extension to car port to form garage, 
re-cladding to front elevation, provision of permeable car park to 
front.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1127/FUL 14/09/2023

Refuse Planning Permission 16/11/2023

County Decisions

36 Gordon Road Topsham EX3 0LJ 

Proposal for a detached flat roof 2-storey annexe for use by 
autistic sons in a safe and secure family environment.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1145/LBC 05/10/2023

Permitted 14/11/2023

Delegated Decision

51 Fore Street Topsham EX3 0HW 

Proposed replacement window, replacement flat roofing and other 
rectification works.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1155/FUL 28/09/2023

Permitted 09/11/2023

Delegated Decision

28 Station Road Topsham EX3 0DS 

Single storey rear extension to replaces existing lean-to.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

23/1260/TPO

Permitted 07/11/2023

Delegated Decision

Newcourt House Old Rydon Lane Topsham Exeter EX2 7JU 

T1 ? Monterey Cypress. Reduce south eastern aspect overhanging 
1 Regency Drive by up to 2m, to appropriate growth points. Tip 
prune sides to shape accordingly. Maximum diameter of cut 
75mm.Reason for works:A recent branch failure injured the 
tenant's dog and the works are to reduce the chance of further 
failure. The tree is showing signs of the infection Coryneum Canker 
and it is expected to decline further with more dead and dangerous 
limbs to become prevalent.

Application Number: Delegation Briefing:

Decision Type: Date:

Location Address:

Proposal:

Total Applications: 52

Page 92


	Agenda
	PLANNING
	Agenda


	2 Minutes
	5 Planning Application No. 22/1145/FUL - Haven Banks Retail Park, Haven Banks, Exeter
	1.0	Application information
	2.0	Summary of recommendation
	3.0	Reason for the recommendation:
	4.0	Table of key planning issues
	5.0	Description of site
	6.0	Description of development
	7.0	Supporting information provided by applicant
	8.0	Relevant planning history
	9.0	List of constraints
	10.0	Consultations
	11.0	Representations
	12.0	Relevant policies
	13.0	Human rights
	14.0	Public sector equalities duty
	15.0	Financial issues
	Material considerations

	16.0	Planning assessment
	17.0	Conclusion
	18.0	Recommendation
	Commitee Report Site Location Plan 22-1145-FUL Final

	6 Appeals Report
	7 List of Decisions Made and Withdrawn Applications
	Delegated Decisions 4th November - 23rd November Final




